
 

 
 
 
 

Delegated Decisions by Cabinet Member for Safer & 
Stronger Communities 
 
Monday, 8 October 2012 at 12.00 pm 
County Hall, New Road, Oxford 
 
 

Items for Decision 
 
The items for decision under individual Cabinet Members’ delegated powers are listed 
overleaf, with indicative timings, and the related reports are attached.  Decisions taken 
will become effective at the end of the working day on Tuesday 16 October 2012       
unless called in by that date for review by the appropriate Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Copies of the reports are circulated (by e-mail) to all members of the County Council. 
 
These proceedings are open to the public 
 

 
 
 
 
Note:  Date of next meeting: 12 November 2012 
 
 
 
 
If you have any special requirements (such as a large print version of 
these papers or special access facilities) please contact the officer 
named on the front page, but please give as much notice as possible 
before the meeting. 
 
 

 
Peter G. Clark  
County Solicitor September 2012 
 
 
Contact Officer: 

 
 
Julie Dean 
Tel: (01865) 815322; E-mail: julie.dean@oxfordshire.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack



Page 2  
 

 

 

Items for Decision 
 

1. Declarations of Interest  

2. Questions from County Councillors  
 Any county councillor may, by giving notice to the Proper Officer by 9 am two 

working days before the meeting, ask a question on any matter in respect of the 
Cabinet Member’s delegated powers. 
 
The number of questions which may be asked by any councillor at any one 
meeting is limited to two (or one question with notice and a supplementary 
question at the meeting) and the time for questions will be limited to 30 minutes in 
total. As with questions at Council, any questions which remain unanswered at the 
end of this item will receive a written response. 
 
Questions submitted prior to the agenda being despatched are shown below and 
will be the subject of a response from the appropriate Cabinet Member or such 
other councillor or officer as is determined by the Cabinet Member, and shall not 
be the subject of further debate at this meeting. Questions received after the 
despatch of the agenda, but before the deadline, will be shown on the Schedule of 
Addenda circulated at the meeting, together with any written response which is 
available at that time.  

 

3. Petitions and Public Address  

4. Draft OFRS Strategic Integrated Risk Management Plan 2013/23 
for Public Consultation  

 Forward Plan Ref: 2012/082 
Contact: Nathan Travis, Assistant Chief Fire Officer, Tel: (01865) 855206 
 
Report by Assistant Chief Fire Officer  (CMDSSC4). 
 
This report presents the Fire and Rescue Authority's next draft five-year Strategic 
Integrated Risk Management Action Plan (IRMP) - also known as its Community 
Risk Management Plan - based on the analysis of both the current and anticipated 
future fire and rescue-related risks facing Oxfordshire.  
 
To meet the requirements of the IRMP process, the plan includes options to further 
reduce, mitigate and respond to these identified risks - with the overall aim of 
improving both public and firefighter safety. In addition, the analysis recognises the 
potential impact of the prevailing economic conditions. 
 
The risks are formulated into five main groupings that demonstrate their relevance 
to the people and communities of Oxfordshire: 
 
Risk at home - risks at home from emergency situations and other risks in the 
community that are not covered elsewhere (such as Leisure). 
 
Risk at work – risks at work from emergency situations and hazardous processes 
and materials. 



Page 3  
 

 

 
Risk whilst travelling – risks while travelling by road rail, boats and aircraft. 
 
Heritage risk – risks to the wealth of places with historical value in Oxfordshire. 
 
Extreme events – extreme weather, environmental impacts and terrorist activities. 
 
This strategic IRMP will form the evidential basis for future annual action plans over 
the next five-year period, providing the Fire and Rescue Authority with the flexibility 
to manage the foreseeable risks within the wider context of the County Council’s 
priorities and pressures. 
 
An update on the Government's new Fire and Rescue National Framework (2012) - 
which sets national expectations - has an impact on the direction of the Authority's 
Strategic IRMP - and the first IRMP action plan (2013-14) to be associated with this 
strategic document is the subject of a separate delegated decision paper. 
 
If approved - and following Scrutiny in November 2012 - this draft will be subject to a 
12-week public and stakeholder consultation process prior to seeking final approval 
from Cabinet in February 2013. 
 
The Cabinet Member is RECOMMENDED to approve the draft Strategic IRMP 
2013-18 to be progressed for further consultation & Scrutiny.  
  

 

5. Integrated Risk Management Plan - Draft Action Plan 2013/14 and 
Update on National Framework  

 Forward Plan Ref: 2012/072 
Contact: Nathan Travis, Assistant Chief Fire Officer, Tel: (01865) 855206 
 
Report by Assistant Chief Fire Officer  (CMDSSC5). 
 
This report proposes a number of projects to be included within the Fire Authority’s 
Integrated Risk Management Action Plan (IRMP) for the fiscal year 2013-14, based 
on the analysis contained within its latest strategic IRMP (2013-18).  The proposals 
summarise areas where the Service’s Senior Leadership Team believe service 
improvements may be achieved. To meet the requirements of the IRMP process, 
each proposal is supported by evidence, validating both their inclusion and their 
contribution to improved community engagement and community/firefighter safety.  
Similarly, each proposal recognises the prevailing economic constraints. 
 
The proposals for the 2013 - 2014 Action Plan are as follows: 
 
Project 1: Implement the Service’s Road Safety strategy as an integral part of its 
prevention and protection activities 
Responsible Manager: Area Manager - Safety 
 
Project 2: Implement opportunities for technological advancements - following a 
review of fleet, equipment and working practices - to further support and enhance 
public and firefighter safety 
Responsible Manager: Area Manager - Service Support 



Page 4  
 

 

 
Project 3: Review and revise the Service’s Learning and Development strategy to 
further support and enhance public and firefighter safety 
Responsible Manager: Area Manager - Service Support 
 
Project 4: Deliver the Thames Valley Fire Control Service (TVFCS) programme 
Responsible Manager: Deputy Chief Fire Officer 
 
Project 5: Implement further collaborative opportunities with other Thames Valley 
Local Resilience Forum (TVLRF) Category 1 & 2 responders and align working 
practices to improve our provision of multi-agency prevention, protection and 
response services 
Responsible Manager: Area Manager - Operations and Resilience 
 
Project 6: Review and revise the Service’s strategy for the effective management of 
operational incidents in order to further support and enhance public and firefighter 
safety 
Responsible Manager: Area Manager - Operations and Resilience 
 
 
These proposals, if approved by the Cabinet Member for Safer & Stronger 
Communities, will be adopted in the final version of the IRMP Action Plan 2013-14 
subject to further consultation & Scrutiny.  Each project will be subject to close 
monitoring, reviewed every quarter and reported to the Cabinet Member responsible 
for Safer & Stronger Communities. 
 
The Cabinet Member is RECOMMENDED to approve the proposed projects to 
be included for further consultation & Scrutiny in the draft IRMP Action Plan 
2013-14. 
 
  

 

 

 
 
 
 

 



 

Division(s): N/A 
 

 
 

CABINET MEMBER FOR SAFER & STRONGER COMMUNITIES  
DELEGATED DECISIONS - 8 OCTOBER 2012  

 
DRAFT STRATEGIC INTEGRATED RISK MANAGEMENT PLAN 
(IRMP) 2013-18 OXFORDSHIRE FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 

 
Report by the Chief Fire Officer 

  
Introduction 

 
1. This report presents the Fire Authority's next draft five-year Strategic 

Integrated Risk Management Action Plan (IRMP) - also known as its 
Community Risk Management Plan - based on the analysis of both the current 
and anticipated future fire and rescue-related risks facing Oxfordshire.  
 

2. To meet the requirements of the IRMP process, the plan also includes options 
to further reduce, mitigate and respond to these identified risks - with the 
overall aim of improving both public and firefighter safety. In addition, the 
analysis recognises the potential impact of the prevailing economic conditions 
on both the organisation and its staff. 
 

3. The risks are formulated into five main groupings: Risk at home (including 
leisure), Risk at work, Risk whilst travelling, Heritage risk and Extreme events 
– in order to demonstrate the relevance of these risks to the people and 
communities of Oxfordshire. 
 

4. This strategic IRMP will then form the evidential basis of future annual action 
plans over the next five-year period (e.g. the 2013-14 action plan is presented 
under a separate paper), providing the Fire and Rescue Authority with the 
flexibility to manage the foreseeable risks within the wider context of the 
County Council’s priorities and pressures. 
 

5. If approved by the Cabinet Member for Safer & Stronger Communities, this 
document will go out to scrutiny in November 2012, followed by a 12-week 
public and stakeholder consultation process (e.g. neighbouring Fire and 
Rescue Services and partner organisations such as the Highways Agency 
and the Environment Agency, the Fire Brigades Union and Oxfordshire Fire 
and Rescue staff – both uniformed and non-uniformed), before final approval 
is sought from the Cabinet in February 2013. 

 
6. This Strategic IRMP has been written in line with the direction and 

requirements of the Fire and Rescue Service Act 2004, Civil Contingencies 
Act 2004, Regulatory Reform Order (Fire Safety) 2005 and the latest version 
of the Government’s Fire and Rescue Service National Framework (2012). 

Agenda Item 4

Page 1



 
7. The 2012 Fire and Rescue National Framework requires each Fire and 

Rescue Authority to produce a publicly available IRMP covering at least a 
three-year time span which: 

 
• Is regularly reviewed and revised and reflects up-to-date risk information 

and evaluation of service delivery outcomes 
• Has regard to the risk analyses completed by Local and Regional 

Resilience Forums including those reported in external Community Risk 
Registers (CRRs) and internal risk registers, to ensure that civil and 
terrorist contingencies are captured in their IRMP 

• Reflects effective consultation during its development and at all review 
stages with representatives of all sections of the community and 
stakeholders 

• Demonstrates how prevention, protection and response activities will be 
best used to mitigate the impact of risk on communities in a cost 
effective way 

• Provides details of how Fire and Rescue Authorities deliver their 
objectives and meet the needs of communities through working with 
partners 

• Has undergone an effective equality impact assessment process. 
 
8. The Senior Management team from Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service will 

respond to the comments made during the consultation period and the 
responses will be made available to Cabinet in the final report in 2013 and 
published on the internet for public access. 

 
Financial and Staff Implications 

 
11. Each project that uses this strategic risk profiling and analysis document will 

fully recognise the prevailing economic constraints, delivering efficiencies or 
allowing existing/additional services to be delivered more effectively. 
 

  

Page 2



RECOMMENDATION 
 
12. The Cabinet Member is RECOMMENDED to approve the draft Strategic IRMP 

2013-18 to be progressed for further consultation & scrutiny.  
 
Dave Etheridge 
Chief Fire Officer 
 
 
Background papers: The Fire and Rescue Service National Framework 2012. 
 
 
Contact Officer: Nathan Travis Tel. (01865) 855206 
  
 
October 2012 
 
 
 

Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service½Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

1 

 
 
 

OXFORDSHIRE 
COMMUNITY RISK 

MANAGEMENT PLAN  
 

Oxfordshire County Council  
Fire & Rescue Service 

Securing a safer Oxfordshire 
 

2013 to 2018 

Page 5



 

Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018½Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

2 

Contents 
 
Welcome and foreword .................................................................................. 4 

Introduction .............................................................................................................. 6 
Section 1 - About us ...................................................................................... 7 

Our county ............................................................................................................... 7 
Our challenges ........................................................................................................ 9 
Our purpose: ......................................................................................................... 12 
Meeting our purpose .............................................................................................. 12 
Our approach ........................................................................................................ 16 
Our performance ................................................................................................... 16 

Section 2 – Our risks ................................................................................... 18 

Risk at home ............................................................................................... 19 
Risk at home ......................................................................................................... 23 
Future options ....................................................................................................... 23 

Risk at work ................................................................................................. 24 
Risk at work - future options .................................................................................. 25 

Risk whilst travelling .................................................................................... 26 
Risk whilst travelling - future options ...................................................................... 28 

Heritage risk ........................................................................................................................... 29 
Heritage risk .......................................................................................................... 29 
Future options ....................................................................................................... 30 

Risk from extreme events ............................................................................ 31 
Risk from extreme events ...................................................................................... 33 
Future options ....................................................................................................... 33 

Section 3 – Fit for purpose .......................................................................... 34 
Operational challenges .......................................................................................... 34 

Organisational development ........................................................................ 35 
Summary of future challenges ............................................................................... 37 

Section 4 - Operational assurance............................................................... 38 

Section 5 - How can you help? .................................................................... 39 
Let us know what you think .................................................................................... 39 
Become a firefighter! ............................................................................................. 39 
Support us ............................................................................................................. 40 

Annex 1 - The ‘Golden Thread’ .................................................................... 42 

Annex 2 - The ‘safe person’ concept ........................................................... 43 
Organisational responsibility .................................................................................. 43 
Personal responsibility ........................................................................................... 45 

Annex 3 – Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 .............................. 46 
  
 

Front Cover and these pages: Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service at 
Blenheim Palace  

Page 6



 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service½Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

3 

Figures 
 
Figure 1: Oxfordshire facts and figures ............................................ Error! Bookmark not defined. 
Figure 2: Oxfordshire - largest towns, localities, development areas and key transport links .......... 8 
Figure 3: Average vehicle miles (source: Department for Transport) .............................................. 9 
Figure 4 Traffic on major roads in Oxfordshire ................................................................................ 9 
Figure 5 Science Vale UK Enterprise Zone ................................................................................... 10 
Figure 6: Oxfordshire’s Fire Stations ............................................................................................. 11 
Figure 7: Members of the public on a ‘fire awareness day’............................................................ 12 
Figure 8: From Purpose to Delivery .............................................................................................. 13 
Figure 9: OFRS fire engines outside the Radcliffe Camera, Oxford .............................................. 14 
Figure 10: Firefighters deliver safety education in primary schools ............................................... 15 
Figure 11: Our core values ........................................................................................................... 15 
Figure 12: Risk categories ............................................................................................................ 18 
Figure 13: Number of primary fires in Oxfordshire ........................................................................ 19 
Figure 14: Number of fires in Oxfordshire homes .......................................................................... 19 
Figure 15: Percentage of home fires with no smoke alarm ........................................................... 19 
Figure 16: Firefighter undertakes realistic fire behaviour training .................................................. 20 
Figure 17: Firefighters training in realistic conditions..................................................................... 20 
Figure 18: Malicious false alarms in Oxfordshire ........................................................................... 21 
Figure 19: Number of fires in Oxfordshire businesses ................................................................... 24 
Figure 20: Deliberate property fires in Oxfordshire ........................................................................ 24 
Figure 21: Firefighting at a Witney warehouse .............................................................................. 24 
Figure 22: Number killed and seriously injured on Oxfordshire roads ........................................... 26 
Figure 23: Fire crews release the driver of a car which left the road and landed in a garden ........ 27 
Figure 24: Firefighters are responsible for releasing people from collisions into the care of the 
ambulance service ........................................................................................................................ 28 
Figure 25: Incident at Blenheim Palace......................................................................................... 29 
Figure 26: A timber frame building quickly destroyed by fire ......................................................... 29 
Figure 27: Rope rescue crews training in Oxford .......................................................................... 30 
Figure 28: Firefighters in chemical protection suits ....................................................................... 31 
Figure 29: Fire crews assisting wheel chair user ........................................................................... 31 
Figure 30: Firefighters undressing from chemical protection clothing at exercise .......................... 32 
Figure 31: Flooding in Abingdon during 2007 ............................................................................... 32 
Figure 32: Rescue exercise from lake at Blenheim Palace ........................................................... 33 
Figure 33: Firefighter training at Fire Service College ................................................................... 34 
Figure 34: Firefighter training at Fire Service College ................................................................... 35 
Figure 35: Firefighters practice drills at Rewley Road Fire Station ................................................ 35 
Figure 36: Extrication equipment on Specialist Rescue Unit ......................................................... 36 
Figure 37: Charity car wash event involving firefighters and fire cadets ........................................ 39 
Figure 38: Routine maintenance of hydraulic rescue equipment ................................................... 39 
Figure 39: Charity collection for Children in Need ......................................................................... 40 
Figure 40: The Safe Person Concept ............................................................................................ 43 
Figure 41: Personal responsibility ................................................................................................. 45 

Page 7



 

Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018½Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

4 

Welcome and foreword 

Councillor Judith Heathcoat 
When emergencies happen in our everyday lives, such as fires in our homes or 
road traffic collisions, we expect our Fire and Rescue Service to respond 
quickly and provide us with a professional and caring service, whatever the 
time or circumstances. Not only this, we also expect them to come into our 
homes and where we work and give us practical advice about how we can 
keep our families and work colleagues safe. 
 
But the world is becoming more and more complex. Our Fire and Rescue 

Service has a long history of being high performing and low cost, but despite the difficult economic 
pressure we face as a council, the service is being asked to do more with its limited resources at 
both a local and national level. For example, fire officers are now taking responsibility locally for 
road safety for the county council and at a national level we are also working closely with Thames 
Valley Police and other emergency responders to ensure that they can effectively deal with 
extreme and large scale events such as wide area flooding or a terrorist attack.  
 
However, we are fortunate to have a Fire and Rescue Service that sees the benefits to our local 
communities of being part of the wider county council and, as a result, it is proactively seeking out 
ways of adding value to the other services we deliver to the people of Oxfordshire wherever 
possible; the safeguarding of vulnerable children and adults being a prime example. 
 
Nevertheless, over the next five years, the pace of change in the county will only increase and that 
is why Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service needs this Community Risk Management Plan, based 
on sound research to meet the challenges ahead. 

Page 8



 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service½Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

5 

Chief Fire Officer Dave Etheridge  
Oxfordshire County Council Fire and Rescue Service has made significant 
progress in recent years on keeping people in the county safe in their 
homes, at work and on our roads. Over halfway through our decade-long 
365 Alive campaign we are currently exceeding the targets1 we set 
ourselves back in 2006.  
 
But even in those intervening years, the world has become a very different 
place. Domestic and international terrorism is on the rise. As a service, 
some of our fire engines and fleet vehicles now contain specialist 

equipment to ensure that we can rise to any challenge Mother Nature or individuals present to 
us.  For example, our officers are now highly trained in specialist areas and are available to 
respond all over the UK, if needed, and indeed across Europe. We have also seen the impacts of 
extreme weather events in recent years, such as the floods in 2007 and the snow in 2010/11 and 
we are now ready to help keep the county on the move and protect our communities as best we 
can. We are determined to do more with our staff and equipment to ensure that we can respond 
quickly to any emergency regardless of its size. 
 
We welcome this wider public value expectation and, as a consequence, we have set ourselves 
the challenge of becoming the most integrated fire and rescue service in the country; not only 
helping to deliver on the outcomes and priorities of other county council services, such as adult 
social care and education, but also sharing key functions – such as a Fire Control Room with 
Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue Service – as well as other assets and specialist services with 
other partners, such as Thames Valley Police. We want to continue our quest to make Oxfordshire 
safer for those who live, work and travel in the county. 
 
We need to establish this five-year Community Risk Management Plan, not only based on 
historical evidence and current research but also on predictive trend data, so that we can shape 
and innovate our future Fire and Rescue Service to best meet the changing needs of our 
communities.  
 
I am extremely proud to be the Chief Fire Officer of Oxfordshire County Council Fire and Rescue 
Service.  We have achieved some significant results in recent years including being the first 
Service in the UK to be awarded with the Customer Service Excellence and winning ‘Brigade of 
the Year’ on behalf of The Fire Fighters Charity.  I am very fortunate that I command teams who 
have a very positive “can-do” culture and fully support the organisation’s mission to make 
Oxfordshire safer. 

                                                
1 See page 17 

Page 9



 

Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018½Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

6 

Introduction 

What is a Community Risk Management Plan? 
This plan is Oxfordshire County Council’s Fire and Rescue Service’s five year analysis of the 
county’s community risk profile, together with our strategic approach for how we intend to 
effectively manage those risks over the period. Government requires us, by law, to regularly 
produce and review the plan, which is also known as our Strategic Integrated Risk management 
Plan’. 
 
This document looks at the fire and rescue related risks to the safety of the people who live, work, 
travel and visit Oxfordshire and identifies how we will work with communities, businesses and 
other partners (such as the police and ambulance services) to: 
 

· PREVENT incidents happening in the first place – for example through information and 
education about how to reduce the risks of fires and road traffic collisions. 
 

· PROTECT people and property in case incidents do occur – for example through advice to 
and inspection of businesses and historic buildings. 
 

· RESPOND AND INTERVENE quickly and effectively when incidents do occur – making 
sure we have well-trained and equipped firefighters available in the right place and at the 
right time to resolve emergencies and give assistance when required. 
 

It also identifies the key risks and challenges facing Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service as an 
organisation and considers how we will ensure that we maintain a high quality, effective and value-
for-money service in to the future. 
 
As a listening and learning organisation, it has been developed following discussions with a cross-
section of the public and our own firefighters, incorporating their priorities, ideas and suggestions. 
 

Who is this plan for? 
This plan is aimed at all those with an interest in the safety of Oxfordshire, including : 
 

· Our communities 
· Businesses in the county 
· Voluntary, community and faith groups  
· Firefighters who serve and protect Oxfordshire 
· Other emergency service providers, such as the police and ambulance services 
· Health and social care professionals 
· Trading standards, environmental health and road safety professionals 
· Councillors and senior managers of the county, district, town and parish councils 

Page 10



 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service½Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

7 

Section 1 - About us 

Our county  
Oxfordshire is home to around 650,000 people. The population is increasing but it remains a 
predominantly rural area and is the least densely populated county in the South East of England.   
 
Oxfordshire is a place that people like to live and work in, with a high quality built and natural 
environment and thriving economy. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

87% of residents regard the 
county as a good place to 

live (Place Survey 2008/09) 
 

The population is healthier 
and more prosperous than 

most other areas 

Our economy contributes £15.4 
billion to the national economy and 
has considerable scope for further 

growth, boosted by the recent 
announcement of a 92 hectare 
enterprise zone in the Science 
Vale area in the south of the 

county 

Unemployment is amongst the lowest in 
the country, with less than 2% of 

residents claiming job seekers allowance 
(December 2011) 

Residents and businesses benefit from 
the county’s position at the heart of the 

UK rail and road transport network 
 

The most rural county 
in the South East 

Region with a high 
quality built and natural 

environment 

Oxfordshire comprises 260,595 
hectares and spans 

approximately 50 miles north to 
south and 35 miles east to west 

A popular visitor destination 
renowned for its rural beauty, 
numerous market towns and 

the academic and architectural 
splendour of Oxford city itself 

 

Home to a thriving voluntary sector with 
over 3,000 voluntary and community 

organisations and above average levels 
of volunteering 

 

Page 11



 

Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018½Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

8 

 

Oxfordshire’s localities 
Figure 1 identifies the county council’s 11 priority localities, which centre on the city and market 
towns. As the Fire and Rescue Service is part of  the county council, we recognise that each 
locality presents individual challenges and we are working towards joining up services to best 
meet local needs and ensure our communities are a safe place to grow, live, work and travel in. 

Figure 1: Oxfordshire - largest towns, localities, development areas and 
key transport links 

Page 12



 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service½Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

9 

Our challenges 

Population growth and ageing  
The population of Oxfordshire is forecast to 
rise 11 per cent to over 700,000 residents by 
2026, with the biggest increases expected 
around Didcot and Harwell in the south, 
Carterton and Witney in the west and 
Bicester in the North. Didcot may be larger 
than Abingdon by 2026, with a projected 
46,000 residents. 

 
Our population is also living longer. The 
number of people aged 75 and over is 
projected to grow by 60 per cent between 
2006 and 2026. This growth is not uniform 
across the county, but higher in our more 
rural districts than in the City. West 
Oxfordshire has the highest rates, followed in 
descending order by Cherwell, South and 
Vale with Oxford far below. Historical data 
shows that older people are at greater risk 
from suffering serious injuries or death from 
accidental fires.  
 

Transport growth 
Oxfordshire has a well-developed network of 
major roads and railways (see Figure 1). 
However, as figure 3 shows, traffic levels 
appear to be closely related to economic 
growth, with steady increases this decade 
being reversed since the recession began in 
2008. However, traffic congestion remains a 
big challenge for the county, especially with 
the planned growth in housing and 
businesses. This can affect how quickly we 
can get to incidents during periods of heavy 
traffic or road network improvements. 
  
 

 
 
 
 
There are several critical points on our 
transport network that tend to suffer from 
congestion: 
 

· on the A34, especially between 
Didcot and the M40 

· on the A40 between Witney and 
Headington 

· around the Oxford Ring Road 
· on the rail corridor through Oxford 
· on routes in and around main towns.  

 
Any increase in traffic will obviously put more 
pressure on these ‘bottle-necks’ unless 
improvements are made to the road and rail 
layouts at these points. 

 

Figure 3 Traffic on major roads in Oxfordshire 

Figure 2: Average Vehicle Miles Source: Dept for 
Transport 

Page 13



 

Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018½Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

10 

Economic and housing 
developments 
In 2011, 30 per cent of the county’s 
workforce was employed in the public sector, 
making it particularly vulnerable to the impact 
of austerity measures. 
 
However, the county is also home to a 
number of nationally and internationally 
recognised businesses, such as ISIS, Oxford 
Instruments, BMW Mini, Williams and Lotus 
Formula One; not to mention the city’s two 
universities and its number of important 
military establishments. 
 

 
 
Figure 4 Science Vale UK Enterprise Zone 
 
Furthermore, Oxfordshire has significant 
plans for future economic and housing 
growth, with a focus on the Local Enterprise 
Partnership hubs – the Science Vale UK area 
(a Local Enterprise Zone), Bicester and 
Oxford City (shown in yellow in Figure 1 
above).  
 
There will be smaller but still significant 
developments at other locations including 
Banbury, Carterton and Witney. 
 
As we develop our service we will consider 
residential and commercial areas that are 
growing, to ensure that we can continue to 
provide an excellent prevention, protection 
and response service to all areas of a 
changing county. 
 
Therefore, we will continue to engage early in 
any planning processes throughout the 
county to address any areas of concern and 
give specialist advice where necessary.  

Maintaining the county’s 
reputation as a world class 
tourist destination 
Cultural and creative businesses in 
Oxfordshire contribute in the region of £1.4 
billion annually to the county’s economy 
(around 10% of its total business 
community).  
 
In addition, Oxford city is the sixth most 
visited city in the UK by international visitors - 
attracting approximately 9.5 million visitors 
per year and generating £770 million of 
income for local Oxford businesses. 
 
Besides the historic city, there are also major 
tourist attractions across the county, such as 
Blenheim Palace, the Cotswolds, Bicester 
Village and Didcot Railway Centre. 
 
The role of the Fire and Rescue Service is 
not only to ensure that our millions of visitors 
remain safe throughout their stay but also to 
help keep attractions and businesses open 
and accessible all year around.

Page 14



 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service½Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

11 

Our structure 
There are currently 24 fire stations in 
Oxfordshire, which are staffed 24 hours a 
day, 365 days a year by a mix of full–time 
and on-call (retained) firefighters. They offer 
safety advice, education and a response to 
emergencies calls.  
 
We have a front-line fleet of 34 fire engines 
and a number of specialist vehicles. This 
includes a hydraulic platform for performing 
rescues at height, a specialist rescue vehicle 
for attending road traffic collisions and other 
specialist rescues, an environmental 
protection unit (provided in partnership with 
the Environment Agency) and two mobile 
command units.  
 

 
Figure 6: Oxfordshire’s Fire Stations 
 
 
 

 
We employ over 250 full-time 
personnel (including middle 
and senior operational 
managers), over 360 on-call 
firefighters and 22 Control 
Room staff. These are 
supported by 50 specialist and 
administrative staff.    
 
We are organised around 
three Fire Risk Areas based 
upon the five district council 
areas: 
 
· West/Cherwell 
· City 
· South/ Vale 
 
Figure 6 is a map of 
Oxfordshire split into the fire 
risk areas and showing the 
five districts and our 24 fire 
stations.  
 

Oxfordshire County Council 
Fire and Rescue Service: 

 

24 fire stations 

34 fire engines 

1 Specialist Rescue Tender 

250 full-time personnel 

360 on-call firefighters 

260,595 hectares covered 

12,500 emergency calls per year 

7,405 incidents attended in 2011 
 

Key 

Whole time station – crewed 
by full time firefighter 24/7 

Retained station – crewed by 
on-call firefighters 24/7 

Day crewing station – crewed 
by full time firefighters during 
the day and on-call firefighters 
at night  

Page 15



 

Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018½Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

12 

Our purpose:  

‘Securing a safer Oxfordshire’ 
Our purpose is to secure a safer Oxfordshire. 
This plan identifies the risks to public and 
firefighter safety, and sets out the things we 
are doing, and plan to do, to control them. 
Our approach is to prevent incidents 
happening, protect against their impact and 
respond quickly and effectively to minimise 
their effect to people and their communities. 
This is shown in Figure 7. 
 

 
 
We have a measurable 10-year strategic aim, 
known as ‘365 Alive’, which was launched in 
2006 and sets targets to save lives, save 
money for the Oxfordshire economy and 
make our communities safer through 
education. Specifically, our three strategic 
targets are, by 2016, to: 
 
· Save 365 lives – reduce the loss of life in 

fires and road traffic collisions through the 
prevention, protection and response work 
of the Fire and Rescue Service. 
 

· Save the economy £100,000,000 – 
through the reduced number of incidents, 
injuries and deaths and their direct and 
indirect costs to the economy. 

 
· Deliver 840,000 safety messages to 

make people safer - through the 
prevention work of the Fire and Rescue 
Service and other partners. 

 

 

 
 

Meeting our purpose 
We must deal with the fire and rescue related 
risks that Oxfordshire faces in order to deliver 
our ‘365 Alive’ targets. The risks are 
identified in our Operational Risk Register for 
Oxfordshire. This plan then considers how 
each of these risks could affect the public 
and firefighters, and explains what we 
currently do to manage these risks under 
three headings: 
 
· Prevention – eliminating or reducing the 

likelihood of the risk occurring 
· Protection – reducing the impact of the 

risk should it occur 
· Response – providing a rapid and 

effective response should an incident 
happen 

 
The plan then describes what we will look at 
in future to further prevent, protect and 
respond to risks and continue to deliver a 
service that is high performing and aims not 
expose our firefighters to uncalculated risks. 
Finally, it considers how our structure and the 
way we work continues to offer best value for 
money. 
 
Annually, we decide on specific projects to 
reduce key risks. These are listed as our 
Community Risk Management Annual Action 
plan (which forms part of our county council 
service business plan “Safer by Design”). 
Each service function produces its own plan 
to deliver their specific objectives of the 
business plan. 

Figure 6: Members of the public on a ‘fire 
awareness day’ 

Page 16



 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service½Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

13 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 7: From purpose to delivery 

Our Purpose 
Securing a Safer 

Oxfordshire 

Strategic Aims Strategic Aims

Area/Functional Plans 
Delivering the business plan 

Fire Risk Area 
Plans 

Functional 
Delivery Plans 

Safer By Design - Annual Business Plan 
 

Community Risk Management Annual Plan 
Operational projects and activities 

Resource Planning 
Budgets, people development, asset management 

Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 
Dealing with risks to the community and ensuring we are fit for purpose 

 
Prevention 

· Education 
and advice 

· Community 
safety 
initiatives 

Protection 

· Advice on 
and 
enforcement 
of Fire Safety 
legislation 

· ‘In-built’ fire 
safety 

Response 

· Emergency 
response 
and urgent 
assistance 

· Gathering 
risk 
information 

Organisational Development 

· People - getting the best from our 
firefighters and support staff 

· Assets - making best use of our 
buildings, vehicles and equipment 

· Structure - organising ourselves to 
operate efficiently, effectively and 
economically 

 

Page 17



 

Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018½Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

14 

How our plans fit within the 
wider context 
We have a suite of plans to deliver our 
purpose, aligning our priorities and actions 
with the county council, our region and the 
Government’s National Framework – see the 
diagram in Annex 1 (page 42) for details. At 
the heart of these plans is our Community 
Risk Management Plan (this document).  

Integrated risk management 
planning 
Our integrated risk management planning 
consists of three main public documents: 
 
1. Community Risk Management Plan  

2. Community Risk Management Annual 
Plan (part of our business plan), which 
details the projects to deliver the strategy, 
specifically: 

a. Evaluate the existing response, 
protection and prevention 
arrangements and identify specific 
opportunities for improvement 

b. Determine policies and standards 
for emergency response, 
protection and prevention 
activities 

c. Determine the resource 
requirements to meet those 
policies and standards 

3. Community Risk Management Annual 
Report, which details how we have 
performed against our own targets and 
how this compares to other fire and 
rescue services. It lists what we have 
done to deal with significant risks and 
reports on any reviews of the service. 

 
Our Operational Risk Register for 
Oxfordshire considers the national, regional 
and local fire and rescue related risks for 
Oxfordshire.  
 
Systems are in place for monitoring, auditing 
and reviewing the effectiveness and currency 
of the Community Risk Management Plan. 
We will undertake an annual review of the 
plan and issue amendments when required.  

Our business plan – Safer by 
Design  
Our ‘Safer by Design’ business plan covers 
the Fire and Rescue Service and Emergency 
Planning function and includes the individual 
projects and activities to deliver our 
Community Risk Management Plan in the 
form of the Annual Action Plan. The business 
plan also contains our approach to resource 
planning, which identifies our budgets, 
training and development plan and asset 
management plan.  
 
Our plan is evidence-based and focuses on 
localities. We seek to understand what works 
best in each area by working with local 
communities and organisations. The plan 
links directly with all the corporate strategic 
objectives within the county council’s 
Corporate Plan.  
 

 

 
Figure 8: OFRS fire engines outside the Radcliffe 
Camera, Oxford 

Page 18



 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service½Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

15 

Our core values 
Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service fully 
supports the underpinning values of the 
county council, as well as those agreed 
nationally by the Chief Fire Officers’ 
Association, the Fire Brigades’ Union, 
UNISON and a number of other Fire and 
Rescue Services. These combined values 
provide a central focus on the standards and 
principles we expect our employees to 
promote, uphold and maintain.   
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 10: Our Core Values 

We value service to the 
community by: 

· focusing on our customers’ needs  
· working with all groups to reduce risks  
· treating everyone fairly and with 

respect  
· being accountable to those we serve  
· striving for excellence in all we do  
 

We value diversity in the 
Service and community by: 

· treating everyone with dignity and 
respect  

· providing varying solutions for 
different needs and expectations  

· promoting equality of opportunity in 
employment and progression within 
the service  

· challenging prejudice and 
discrimination  

 

We value each other by 
practising and promoting: 

· fairness and respect  
· recognition of merit  
· honesty, integrity and mutual trust  
· personal development  
· ‘can-do’ attitude, co-operative and 

inclusive working  
· one-team approach 

We value improvement at all 
levels of the Service by: 

· taking responsibility for our 
performance  

· promoting and supporting innovation  
· embedding efficiency and 

effectiveness in all we do  
· being open-minded  
· responding positively to feedback  
· learning from others  
· consulting others  

D
iversity 

 

by 

Service to the community 

E
ac

h
 O

th
er

 

We value 

Improvement 
 

e 
e

taki

chal
sc

· ch

y 
g
y

· ch
disc

g:
WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWe

le

·

Figure 9: Firefighters deliver safety education in 
primary schools 

Page 19



 

Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018½Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

16 

Our approach  

Prevention is better than cure 
The Fire and Rescue Service will always 
maintain an emergency response to calls for 
assistance. However, our emphasis towards 
securing a safer society has shifted to also 
encompass prevention and education. Multi-
skilled employees along with voluntary 
agencies and other partners, help promote 
risk awareness, self-help, safeguarding and 
will sign-post specialist assistance and 
support when required. This approach 
embraces the preventative agenda and 
reduces the call on other council services 
such as Adult Social Care, which helps 
support the elderly.  

Making the most of our 
resources 
Despite our historic ‘low cost and high 
performance’ status, we must make the most 
of our ‘standing assets’ (fire stations, fire 
engines and equipment) in to the future. The 
county council has invested in additional full-
time supervisory managers whose role is to 
support our fire stations that are crewed by 
retained duty ‘on-call’ personnel. They also 
help to crew the fire engines in rural areas. 
Going forward, these managers will help to 
deliver broader community safety initiatives in 
their local areas. 

A learning organisation 
Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service is a 
committed learning organisation that 
recognises the need for change in order to 
improve our cost efficiency and effectiveness.  
We continue to invite peer review of the 
service, which scrutinises how well we 
operate. Other fire authorities critically 
assess our service and identify areas where 
we can improve. We also compare our 
performance with similar fire and rescue 
services in order to share good practice.  

 
 

Integration and collaboration 
Being a highly integrated county council-run 
service, we already have a good track record 
of working with others to support the broader 
community safety agenda. We work with 
local partners, such as the ambulance, police 
and wider health services, as well as the 
county council, to tackle the increasing range 
of community safety and well-being issues. 
We recognise the value of effective 
partnership working in delivering the best 
service we can. 
 
In order to continue to deliver excellent value 
for money, whilst maintaining resilient 
services, we are also looking to share 
specialist functions and assets with partners 
such as the Thames Valley Fire Control 
Room Service collaboration programme with 
Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue Service. 
 
At the operational level, we share boundaries 
with six different fire and rescue services. We 
have extensive experience of working with 
our neighbouring services to resolve 
incidents near our borders. We are also an 
active member of the Thames Valley Local 
Resilience Forum and regularly plan and train 
together for larger incidents. 
 

Our performance 
In order to continuously improve our service 
for the benefit of the people of Oxfordshire, 
we actively look at our day-to-day work and 
any changes that have been introduced. We 
regularly monitor key performance measures 
and take action to improve them.  
 

“Oxfordshire County 
Council Fire and Rescue 

Service is providing a 
good, low cost, effective 

service  
and is striving 

continuously to improve.” 
 

Page 20



 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service½Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

17 

We set challenging performance targets in all 
appropriate areas of work (including 
operational and business aspects). We 
believe in being open, honest and 
transparent about our performance; our 
annual performance can be viewed in the 
Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Performance 
web pages and in our Annual Report. These 
reports include details of different types of 
emergency incidents (such as fires and road 
traffic collisions) and identify any trends or 
patterns. They look at other non-emergency 
calls and how they have been dealt with, 
including unwanted fire alarm signals and 
hoax calls.  

365 Alive performance  
As at March 2012, six years into our 10-year 
campaign, we calculate: 
 
 

 

How quickly Oxfordshire Fire 
and Rescue Service responds 
Oxfordshire County Council, as the Fire and 
Rescue authority, approves the targets for 
how quickly we will respond to emergencies 
(our emergency response targets): 
 
Under normal circumstances, when an 
emergency occurs, a fire engine will be sent 
from the nearest fire station. Our target is to 
get to all incidents within 11 minutes (80% of 
the time) and 14 minutes (95% of the time) – 
from when the fire engine is sent to when it 
arrives at the scene. 
 
Response times will be affected by various 
factors, for example incident location, traffic 
and weather conditions.  
 
Due to the rural nature of some of the 
communities in Oxfordshire, ensuring that a 
swift and effective response is available to 
everyone is a significant challenge, especially 
during periods of heavy snowfall or other 
delays to the road network. The service must 
ensure that it is innovative in its approach to 
provide the best response possible to 
everyone while maintaining its cost 
effectiveness.  
 
Going forward, we will continuously challenge 
these targets to ensure we have the fire 
engines in the right place, and firefighters 
with the right skills, so we can make an 
effective response across Oxfordshire.  
 

365 Alive performance 
 
280 people are still alive as a result of our 
work and interventions around fires and road 
traffic collisions - 64 more people than our 
target. 

 
Almost £95 million has been saved from 
the economy as a result of our work and 
interventions at road traffic collisions and at 
fires in both homes and in businesses. This 
is almost £29 million more than our target. 
 
Over 504,000 safety messages have been 
delivered to key audiences exceeding our 
target by over 136,000 people.  

 

Page 21



 

Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018½Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

18 

Section 2 – Our risks 
A risk is a situation where firefighters or 
members of the public are exposed to 
danger. The risks that the Fire and Rescue 
Service has to manage are numerous and 
can vary in the likelihood of the situation 
occurring and the level of exposure to 
danger. This plan brings together national, 
regional and local risks and groups these 
under five categories: 
 
· Risk at home –risks at home from 

emergency situations and other risks in 
the community that are not covered 
elsewhere. 

· Risk at work –risks at work from 
emergency situations and hazardous 
processes and materials. 

· Risk whilst travelling –risks while 
travelling by road rail, boats and aircraft. 

· Heritage risk – risks to the wealth of 
places with historical value in 
Oxfordshire. 

· Extreme events –extreme weather, 
environmental impacts and terrorist 
activities. 

 

Each category includes: 
 
· the risks to both the public and 

firefighters; 
· the existing measures to prevent, protect 

and/or respond to each risk, and; 
· a list of future options to be explored up 

to 2018. 
 
Our operational risk register summarises 
the combined local, regional (Thames 
Valley Community Risk Register) and 
national risks (National Risk Register) 
facing us. The following section 
summarises the risk identified and puts 
them into context. 

Figure 11: Risk Categories 

Page 22



 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service½Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

19 

Risk at home 

Identified risks to the public 

 
 
We are very pleased with our proactive 
community fire safety work. As figure 13 
shows there has been a general reduction in 
primary2 fires over the last six years. 
However, as Figure 14 shows, the number of 
fires in homes has remained fairly static over 
the same period. The overall reduction is 
largely due to the increased amount of 
prevention by fire and rescue services, both 
locally and nationally, and also fire safety 
features included in homes. Behaviour has 
also changed; people are more likely to have 
working smoke alarms, home fire escape 
plans and basic fire safety checks.  
 

 
Figure 12: Number of primary fires in 
Oxfordshire 
 
 
However, of the 346 fires in homes we 
attended in 2011/12 nearly 4 out of 10 did not 
have a smoke alarm fitted (see Figure 15). Of 

                                                
2 Primary Fires are reported fires or any fires involving 

the remainder that did have smoke alarms 
fitted almost 1 in 3 of these alarms were not 
working (up from 1 in 5 in 2010/11), often 
because the batteries had run out.  We 
recognise we need to do more in this area to 
create a safer Oxfordshire.   
 

 
Figure 13: Number of fires in Oxfordshire 
homes 
 

 
 

 
Figure 14: Percentage of home fires with no 
smoke alarm 
 
Different construction types, e.g. timber-
framed buildings, can also affect the 
likelihood and severity of a fire. Another 
important factor in reducing fire casualties in 
Oxfordshire has been our improvements in 
the emergency response that we provide to 
rescue people and extinguish fires. These 
include improved technology, training, 
techniques and equipment.  

1324

1125 1156 
1030 1013 1005 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12

Number of Primary Fires 

386 381 390 
340 372 346 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011 -12

Number of  Fires in Homes 

45.1% 

39.6% 

34.6% 
38.2% 37.6% 

32.4% 

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%

2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12

% of Fires in Homes With No Smoke Alarm 

In 2010 there were 36,000 fires in 
people’s homes in England alone. 
There were 7,400 people injured as a 
result of fire and 321 people died, of 
which over two thirds involved fires in 
the home (Fire Statistics Monitor: 
2011). 
 
In 2011/12 there were 346 accidental 
fires in Oxfordshire homes, 20 people 
injured as a result of fire and one 
person died.  

 National data shows that you are twice 
as likely to die in a house fire that has no 
working smoke alarm. 

Page 23



 

Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018½Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

20 

 
Figure 15: Firefighter undertakes realistic fire 

behaviour training 

Those most at risk 

An analysis of fire fatalities from 2001 to 
2011 have shown that there are three 
predominant factors that apply to people who 
have died in fires at home: 
 

· alcohol or drug misuse 
· mobility issues 
· health issues 

 
People who are more likely to have a fire in 
their home include: 
 
· older people (65 +) 
· single adults living alone 
· children and young people (1 – 17 years 

old) 
· smokers 
· people with mobility problems 
· people with sensory impairment 
· people with alcohol or drug use problems 
· people with learning disabilities 
· people with a mental health problems 
· people from minority ethnic or faith 

groups 
· people in temporary accommodation or 

poor housing 
· people using dangerous appliances 
 
Many of these groups are the most difficult to 
successfully engage with. A key part of this 
document covers how we intend to continue 
improving our communication with such 
higher risk groups, including maintaining and 
expanding partnerships with the county’s 
public, private and voluntary organisations. 
 

 
 

“Almost twice as many people over 
the age of 50 now die in dwelling fires 

in the UK each year compared to 
those under 50”3 

 
Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service uses 
different sources of data to identify where the 
people in greatest danger actually live in 
order to target our prevention work. 

Other risks in the community 

Other risks in the community include 
travelling, extreme events,(both covered later 
in this plan), and dangers associated with 
sporting and leisure activities. We regularly 
help rescue people who are trapped by 
severe weather, in water, at height or even 
simply locked out of their homes.  
 
The Fire and Rescue Service also responds 
to incidents that pose a risk to the 
environment, including grass or woodland 
fires. Oxfordshire has many Sites of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI) in its communities, 
which can be seriously affected by fires or 
chemical releases if not dealt with effectively.  
 

 
Figure 16: Firefighters training in realistic 
conditions 
 
Malicious false alarms or hoax calls are a 
particular problem for all emergency services. 
As Figure 18 shows, although the numbers 
are relatively low and appear to be falling, 
each hoax call wastes limited public 
resources and puts firefighters and those in 
genuine need at higher risk.  

                                                
3 Ageing Safely – Chief Fire Officers Association - 2011 

Page 24



 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service½Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

21 

 
Figure 17: Malicious false alarms in 
Oxfordshire 

Identified risks to firefighters 
Although no longer the main proportion of 
firefighters’ work, dealing with fires still 
presents serious danger due to threat of fire, 
smoke, the construction of the building and 
the buildings contents. The tragic deaths of 
two firefighters at a fire in a high rise block in 
Stevenage in 2005 and a further two 
firefighter deaths at a tower block blaze in 
Southampton in 2010, underlines the danger 
presented by this type of building in 
particular. As a result of these incidents, we 
revised our policies, procedures, training and 
equipment and continue to review them to 
deal as safely as possible with such 
incidents. 
 
Firefighters wear technologically advanced 
clothing and breathing apparatus to protect 
themselves from heat, flames and smoke. 
They tackle fires using advanced equipment 
and are highly skilled in operating in smoke-
filled environments with no visibility to locate 
and rescue people who are trapped. 
Firefighters also learn about different types of 
building construction to understand the risks 
they can present – as well as studying how 
fire develops and behaves, which includes 
regular exercising in realistic, but controlled, 
fire conditions. 
 
With the success of our prevention work and 
the falling number of fires, individual 
firefighters may have less real experience of 
fires. This places even more importance on 
our operational procedures, excellent 
command and leadership and thorough, 
regular and realistic training. 
 

Existing management strategy 

 

Prevention 
Home Fire Risk Checks raise the 
awareness of the danger of fire in people’s 
homes and encourage the fitting of smoke 
alarms, significantly contributing to the 
reduction in fire deaths and injuries. We use 
data (for example demographic profiling) to 
target those who are most at risk, and 
working with our partners in health and social 
care, ensure they receive the appropriate 
advice and help with safety in the home 
(including escape plans and smoke alarms).  
 

 
 
Education is a core part of our business plan 
and aims to prevent children and young 
people from being harmed or killed. Key 
activities include:  
 
· Engaging with many thousands of 

children and young people per year in the 
county’s schools through our Key Stages 
schools’ programmes.  

146 
121 

96 

46 53 55 

0

50

100

150

200

2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12

Malicious false alarms 

Oxfordshire County Council Fire 
and Rescue Service, in partnership 
with other service providers, fitted 

over 

 9000 domestic smoke alarms 
from 2004 to 2011. 

Oxfordshire County Council Fire and 
Rescue Service, in partnership with 

other service providers, educate 
5000 children a year at the 

Oxford Safety Centre. 

Page 25



 

Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018½Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

22 

· Providing direct counselling to nearly 40 
children and young people per year using 
specially trained fire setter counselling 
staff.  

· Divert children and young people from 
anti-social behaviour by engaging in 
partnerships and acting as role models.  

· Educate an average of 5,000 children 
and young people in fire safety skills and 
responsible citizenship per year through 
our Junior Citizen Programme.  

· Identify and disseminate good practice in 
working with children and young people.  

 
We started our Fire Cadet scheme in 1993 
and now work with up to one hundred 12-18 
year-olds each year. We provide them with a 
training programme that includes fitness, 
communications, team work and basic life-
saving skills, leading to a Duke of Edinburgh 
Bronze Award.  

Protection  
Sprinklers and Automatic Water 
Suppression Systems 
Sprinklers have been installed in businesses 
for many years and are proven to reduce the 
damage from spreading fires. It is now 
possible to put sprinklers and suppression 
systems into people’s homes, although 
relatively few have been fitted in Oxfordshire. 
 
Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service strongly 
believe that fitting sprinklers or automatic 
water suppression systems will reduce the 
number of fire deaths and injuries, save 
people’s property and improve firefighter 
safety. Where appropriate, our officers 
recommend the systems when planning 
consultations and giving advice. 

Response and intervention 
Fires 
When we attend fires in people’s homes we 
send the right people and equipment needed 
to deal with the incident. We use the latest 
equipment and techniques, including 
breathing apparatus, thermal imaging 
cameras and forced ventilation fans to 
resolve the incident as quickly and safely as 
possible. This helps to rescue people and 
minimise fire damage. 
 
 
 

Water rescue  
Oxfordshire has many waterways, which 
have associated risks of flooding and 
drowning. We have firefighters trained to 
rescue people from both moving and still 
water, including   faster moving ‘white water’. 
They will also respond to national 
emergencies resulting from large-scale 
flooding. Our firefighters identify potential 
areas of danger on our waterways and learn 
the best locations to launch our rescue craft. 
 

 
 
Rescue from height  
Every firefighter is trained and required to 
work safely at height. Every fire engine 
carries rope access equipment. We have 
specific policies and procedures for working 
at height and for tackling high-rise incidents 
effectively, while complying with legal safety 
requirements. 
 
Responding with the ambulance service 
In a number of rural localities, firefighters will 
respond to certain emergency calls made to 
the ambulance service. These incidents are 
usually heart attacks or breathing difficulties 
in locations where firefighters can arrive 
before the ambulance service. Firefighters 
are trained to deliver the immediate first aid 
that may be required but will always be 
backed up by ambulance crews who take 
over on arrival. 

Oxfordshire County Council Fire 
and Rescue Service responds to 

over 3 incidents a day that are not 
fire related. 

Page 26



 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service½Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

23 

Risk at home 

Future options 
To continue to improve our services we 
will: 
· Review the way we respond to incidents 

in residential areas. 
· Review the vehicles, equipment and 

techniques that we use, including new 
technology such as Ultra High Pressure 
Cutting Extinguishers (UHPCE). This 
equipment projects a super fine mist of 
water into a building and has the 
capability to add an abrasive grit into the 
spray. The grit allows the spray to cut 
through walls so the spray-jet can be 
applied from the outside, immediately 
improving conditions inside the building 
for anyone trapped. 

· Consider expanding our current joint 
working with the Ambulance Service. 

· Review the level of emergency response 
resources required at different times of 
the day and week, based on local risk 
analysis and incident trends. 

· Develop our work with neighbouring fire 
and rescue services to ensure people 
receive the quickest possible response to 
an emergency, regardless of borders. 

 
To ensure we remain excellent value for 
money we will: 

· Review the vehicles and equipment we 
use when responding to different 
incidents. This will include harnessing the 
new technology of multi-functional and 
specialist vehicles to address the vast 
range of incidents we attend.. 

· Develop a management strategy to allow 
fire stations to become more valuable 
community assets. 

 
To build on our engagement with 
vulnerable groups we will: 

· Develop current and new partnerships 
with other public sector agencies and 
volunteer groups to further improve 
access to and delivery of prevention 
services to vulnerable members of our 
community. 

 
 

To continue to develop our partnerships 
we will: 

· Consider engaging with, and helping to 
develop, volunteer groups to assist in fire 
prevention education. 

· Work further with other Fire and Rescue 
Authorities, at the appropriate level, to 
deliver savings and maintain effective 
working between different fire and rescue 
services. 

· Foster stronger partnerships with local 
businesses to encourage them to release 
employees to undertake the role of ‘on-
call’ firefighters. 

 
To build on our influence with 
Government and other decision makers 
we will: 

· Continue to lobby local and national 
bodies to increase installation of 
sprinklers and automatic water 
suppression systems in future residential 
developments. 

· Work with our partners to encourage the 
installation of sprinklers and automatic 
water suppression systems in existing 
domestic buildings. 

 
To develop and integrate our plans with 
other services and areas we will: 

· Consider exploring joint planning with 
other local public services, to create a 
‘place map’ of community risks, aims and 
priorities. 

· Consider a coordinated approach to 
planning with neighbouring services. 

Page 27



 

Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018½Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

24 

Risk at work 

 
 

 
Figure 18: Number of fires in Oxfordshire 
businesses 

Identified risks to the public 
Although the risks to people while at work are 
not statistically as high as those when at 
home, they are still significant. There is a 
legal requirement under the Fire Safety Order 
2005 for employers to reduce the risk from 
fire to both their employees and their 
customers; we have the legal responsibility to 
enforce this. Annex 3 of this document details 
our policy and approach. 
 

 
 
The danger of fire can be higher in some 
businesses due to the nature of their work. 
The tragic deaths of four firefighters at a 
warehouse fire in Atherstone, Warwickshire 
in 2007 highlights the risks that some modern 

businesses can present (the warehouse was 
the size of four football pitches). We focus 
our fire safety audit programme on higher risk 
premises but offer free advice to all 
businesses.  
 

 
Figure 19: Deliberate property fires in 
Oxfordshire 
 
According to the Arson Prevention Bureau, 
up to 80 per cent of businesses never fully 
recover from a serious fire, and 45 per cent 
of these fires are arson related. We provide 
free, impartial advice to improve the fire 
safety management of businesses. However, 
if necessary, we will enforce legislation when 
acceptable standards are not met.  
 

 
Figure 20: Firefighting at a Witney warehouse 

Identified risks to firefighters 
Since 1991, thirteen firefighters have died 
dealing with fires in commercial properties in 
the UK. These fires can be particularly 
dangerous to firefighters because the 
buildings can be very large, complex 
structures with few windows (e.g. factories 
and warehouses). The construction and/or 
contents can also cause rapid development 
of fire and the building’s subsequent 
collapse. There are also many chemical 
processes used for manufacturing that can 

344 
303 

254 

198 193 193 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12

Fires in businesses 

126 

73 

89
93 

72 
67 

60

70

80

90

100

110

120

130

140

2006/07 2007/08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12

Deliberate Property Fires 

In Oxfordshire, there is an average 
of around four fires a week that 
involve property that is either 
publicly or commercially owned. 
 
We investigate each incident and 
analyse national trends to identify 
people who are most at risk from 
fire when at work or when using 
commercial facilities. 

 

In the UK 
45% of serious business fires are 

arson related 

Page 28



 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service½Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

25 

present a serious danger to firefighters, 
members of the public and the environment. 

 

Existing management strategy 

Prevention 
We have a legal responsibility to provide fire 
prevention advice to businesses under the 
Fire and Rescue Act 2004. In turn, 
businesses have a legal requirement to carry 
out a suitable and sufficient fire risk 
assessment under the Fire Safety Order. As 
part of our risk-based approach to inspection 
(which uses national best practice and 
outcomes of national fire data and societal 
life risk), we audit assessments and offer 
advice to improve a business’ fire safety 
management. We also enforce the law, if risk 
assessments have not been undertaken or 
maintained, or do not minimise the risk to 
people lives. 
 
We will ensure that companies understand 
and mitigate the risks their business presents 
to the public and their staff, as well as train 
their staff accordingly.  Our advice and audits 
help businesses to reduce the potential for 
arson by implementing simple measures as 
part of their fire safety management. 

Protection  
During the development phase of any new 
building or major alteration works to 
commercial buildings, we will liaise with local 
authority building control officers to ensure 
that an acceptable level of safety and fire 
protection is provided, as set by the relevant 
standards. For more complex buildings, we 
may be required to approve innovative fire 
safety management systems that do not fall 
within the set standards. This enables 
architects to design intricate buildings, while 

maintaining the safety of the people that use 
them. 

Response and intervention 
We respond to fires in all business premises 
and we are trained to deal with expected 
general hazards. Firefighters visit certain 
high-risk premises to familiarise themselves 
with specific hazards and gather information 
that will be useful in an emergency. Regular 
visits ensure firefighters keep up to date with 
businesses as they develop and change. 
 

 

Risk at work Future 
options 
To continue to improve our 
services we will: 

· Review our Fire Safety Audit 
and risk rating procedures to 
ensure that businesses with 
higher risks provide adequate 
fire safety management at their 
places of work. 

· Review the way we respond to 
commercial premises. 

· Review the vehicles and 
equipment we use when 
responding to different 
business premises. 

· Review the way we undertake 
Fire Safety Audits. 

To ensure we remain excellent 
value for money we will: 

· Review the availability of 
emergency response resources 
based on an analysis of the 
local risks throughout both the 
24-hour day period, and across 
the different days of the week. 

 

Page 29



 

Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018½Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

26 

Risk whilst travelling 

Identified risks to the public 
Although the number of people killed and 
seriously injured on our roads has declined 
over the last decade, it has levelled out in 
recent years (see Figure 21), with an average 
of three or four fatalities per month and one 
serious injury every day on Oxfordshire 
roads. Nevertheless, this figure is still not 
acceptable. 
 

 
 
Although UK Fire and Rescue Services have 
always rescued people from road collisions, 
since 2004 they have had a legal 
responsibility to do so.  
 
Traffic accidents are most likely to occur 
when roads are slippery due to rain or ice 
and when visibility is reduced by poor light or 
fog. Other major contributing factors to 
accidents include excessive speed, 
tiredness, alcohol and drugs, and driver 
distractions caused by mobile phones or 
other devices.  
 
The county council investigates road 
engineering solutions for parts of the road 
transport network where accidents occur 
most frequently. Education programmes are 
delivered by the County Council Road Safety 
Team, which is now part of Oxfordshire Fire 
and Rescue Service. This is sometimes 
carried out in collaboration with other 
agencies such as the police or local 
community safety officers.  
 
 
 

Identified risks to firefighters 
The risks to firefighters when dealing with 
serious road traffic collisions are extremely 
high, especially on major or fast roads. 
Firefighters must manage traffic to ensure a 
safe area to work, both in and around the 
incident. Depending on injuries and vehicle 
damage, firefighters may use hydraulic 
cutting equipment to carefully release people. 
Whilst doing this they must consider the 
construction of the vehicle and its safety 
systems, such as airbags. Although designed 
to save the passengers’ lives, safety systems 
can present a danger to the firefighters 
attempting to cut through the structure of a 
vehicle. 
 
Vehicles are continuously being improved for 
safety and fuel efficiency. The development 
of alternative fuels, whether it is electric, gas, 
hydrogen or bio-fuels, presents further 
potential hazards to firefighters. 
 
In addition, many chemicals and hazardous 
materials are transported by road and rail. 
When involved in a collision, these can 
present serious dangers to firefighters, the 
community and the environment. Firefighters 
will deal with the initial phase of all hazardous 
materials incidents and, in some cases, will 
make the area safe until specialist teams 
arrive.  
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Every person seriously injured in a 
road collision will cost the national 
economy an estimated £178,160,  
and every person killed costs the 
economy an estimated £1,585,510 
(Reported Road Casualties Great 
Britain 2009: Annual Report, 
Department for Transport). 

 

Figure 21: Number killed and seriously injured on 
Oxfordshire roads 

Page 30



 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service½Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

27 

Existing management strategy 

Prevention 
Education – The key aim of ‘365 Alive’ is to 
reduce the numbers of people killed and 
seriously injured on our roads throughout the 
county. Education is crucial. We visit young 
adults in their last years of school and deliver 
our ‘Choices and Consequences’ 
programme, which uses hard hitting case 
studies to illustrate the potential dangers of 
poor driving. The programme is currently 
delivered to all Key Stage 4 students in 
secondary schools across Oxfordshire.  
 
We strongly believe that the programme is 
delivering a real reduction in the number of 
new drivers involved in road traffic collisions. 
The programme receives exceptionally good 
feedback and national recognition for its 
impact on the behaviour of young drivers. 
 

 
 
Road Safety Team – The Fire and Rescue 
Service includes the county council’s 
dedicated Road Safety Team. We work with 
partners to run road safety campaigns and 
events to reduce collisions by trying to 
educate and change driver behaviour. Events 
include child cycle training, child pedestrian 
training, child seatbelt fitting and young 
drivers and motorcyclist themed events, 
which aim to solve county wide or specific 
local problems.  
 
In 2011, Oxfordshire introduced 50mph 
speed limits on the most dangerous stretches 
of a number of our dual carriageways to 
reduce the risk and severity of accidents.  

Protection  
Physical road layout and traffic calming 
measures can be effective in reducing the 
number of accidents on the road. We consult 
on road network improvements and ensure 
proposed measures are as effective as 
possible in reducing road collisions, while 
maintaining traffic flow. The county council 

has a team that identifies areas where high 
numbers of accidents occur and delivers road 
engineering solutions if appropriate. The 
team also bears in mind the effect that 
‘calming’ solutions might have on the time it 
takes us to respond to local communities. 

Response and intervention 
Collisions involving transport can be very 
difficult to resolve. All our fire engines carry 
sophisticated equipment for dealing with such 
incidents, including hydraulic equipment to 
cut through a vehicle’s structure. Our 
firefighters are also trained to assist the 
ambulance service and give initial first-aid 
treatment when required.  
 
We also have a range of specialist rescue 
vehicles that carry a wider range of 
equipment to deal with even the most 
complicated transport incidents, including 
heavy goods vehicles, trains and aircraft. 
 
Fire engines also carry equipment to deal 
with hazardous material spillages to protect 
the environment. We have a specialist 
environmental protection unit (delivered in 
partnership with the Environment Agency) to 
assist at larger incidents of this type. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Drivers aged 17-25 are 70% more 
likely to be killed or seriously injured 

on the road compared to other 
drivers. 

 

Figure 22: Fire crews release the driver of a 
car that left the road and landed in a garden 

Page 31



 

Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018½Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

28 

Risk whilst travelling 
Future options 
 
To continue to develop education and 
prevention we will: 
 

· Consider developing more targeted 
and innovative safety education 
initiatives, together with the police and 
other agencies. 

· Build on our integrated approach to 
delivering road safety education using 
resources from across the county 
council and other partners. 

 
To continue to improve our services we 
will: 
 

· Develop the work of the Oxfordshire 
County Council Road Safety Team. 

· Review the way we work with the 
Ambulance Service at road traffic 
collisions, to ensure we continue to 
provide high-quality casualty care. 

· Review our response to all transport 
incidents to ensure it remains ‘fit for 
purpose’. 

 
To ensure we remain excellent value for 
money we will: 
 

· Review our equipment, training and 
mutual aid arrangements to ensure 
we are able to deal with large and 
complex transport incidents from 
major rail and aircraft accidents to 
smaller one-vehicle collisions, whilst 
also maintaining a cost-effective 
service. 

 
 

 

 
Figure 23: Firefighters are responsible of 
releasing people from collisions into the care 
of the ambulance service 

Page 32



 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service½Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

29 

Heritage risk 

 
Figure 24: Incident at Blenheim Palace 

Identified risks to the public 
Oxfordshire has over 12,000 listed 
buildings, including many sites of 
importance to the country’s national 
heritage. The city of Oxford is 
internationally famous for its university 
and college buildings, some of which 
date back to medieval times. Blenheim 
Palace heads a list of nationally-
important stately homes and is one of 
390 Grade I listed buildings in the county.  
 

 
 
Within Oxfordshire there are also art, books 
and artefacts of national and international 
importance that need to be protected. In 
certain areas of Oxfordshire, tourism is a 
significant part of the economy, relying 
heavily on these buildings and their 
treasures. Therefore, reducing the risk of fire 
and damage not only protects the physical 
objects themselves but also the livelihoods of 
these communities.  

Identified risks to firefighters 
Heritage buildings often have complex 
layouts and, coupled with their old 
construction, can present extreme dangers to 
firefighters during a fire. The high value of 
these buildings and their contents may 

require extensive firefighting operations, 
including complicated salvage work to save 
priceless artefacts. 

Existing management strategy 

Prevention 
We work with heritage building owners and 
occupiers and advise them how to reduce the 
risk of fire through effective prevention 
policies and fire safety management.  

Protection  
All commercial buildings must have minimum 
standards of safety. Achieving these 
standards in heritage buildings can be very 
challenging. We have specially trained 
officers to discuss solutions with owners and 
occupiers of any heritage building.  
 
We pre-plan for incidents involving heritage 
buildings. Comprehensive plans have been 
created for the county’s heritage sites that 
have the greatest value and may present the 
greatest risks to the community and/or 
firefighters. These plans ensure that if a fire 
happens, we are able to deal with it 
effectively and minimise damage and 
disruption.  
 

 
Figure 25: A timber frame building quickly 
destroyed by fire 

Response and intervention 
Firefighters are aware of the heritage 
buildings in their local areas and those that 
the service has special firefighting plans for. 
Firefighters are familiar with these plans and 
regularly undergo operational exercises with 
the staff and managers of the building. The 
exercises involve full-scale simulations of 
serious fires in these buildings, ensuring the 
plans and actions are fully tested. 

Oxfordshire has: 
12,000+ Listed Buildings 

390 Grade I Listed 
 

Page 33



 

Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018½Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

30 

Heritage risk 

Future options 
To continue to protect Oxfordshire’s 
grand heritage we will: 
 
· Work with the owners and occupiers to 

ensure that the significant heritage risks 
are continually evaluated and 
amendments to plans made as required. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
· Develop our ability to effectively respond 

to this type of incident, using new fire 
protection / suppression technology and 
innovations in emergency response 
equipment. 

· Review our programme of operational 
exercises involving High Risk Heritage 
Premises. 

Figure 26: Rope rescue crews training in Oxford 

Page 34



 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service½Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

31 

Risk from extreme 
events  

Identified risks to the public 
and communities 
The following events can create very high 
risk to people and their communities: 
 

· large public events 
· civil disturbance 
· chemical and biological accidents or 

spillages 
· explosions 
· acts of terrorism 
· extreme weather events; snow, flood, 

wind and wildfire 
· human and animal pandemics 

 
The emergence of global 
risks has a real impact on the 
way we assess the potential 
of extreme events and the 
way we plan for them. People 
in the UK now live in a world 
where the threat of terrorism 
is ever present, where the 
impact of climate change is 
more extreme and the risk of 
a human pandemic is still 
current.  
 
Oxfordshire Fire & Rescue 
Service (as both an 
emergency responder and 
as the county council service 

responsible for Emergency Planning) is part 
of the Thames Valley Local Resilience Forum 
(TVLRF). This partnership comprises the 
police, local authorities, fire, ambulance, 
Environment Agency, health, military, and 
utility and transport companies across 
Oxfordshire, Berkshire, and 
Buckinghamshire. TVLRF plans to deal with 
the consequences of any large-scale event 
within the county, whilst also being able to 
support other Fire and Rescue Services as 
part of a national response.   
 
The TVLRF provides information and advice 
about actions to take to ensure that 
residents, visitors and businesses in the 
Thames Valley are ready and prepared - 
before, during and after a major incident. 

 

 
Figure 28: Fire crews assisting wheel chair 
user 
 
This includes general emergency and risk 
information relating to severe weather, fire, 
chemical incidents, major disruption to 
business activities and localised flooding. 
 
Visit the Thames Valley Local Resilience 
Forum website for more details - 
http://www.thamesvalleylrf.org.uk/ 
 
The risks to the region are identified by the 
Thames Valley Resilience Forum while 
national risks are identified by the Cabinet 
Office. 

Identified risks to firefighters 
As well as the more generic dangers that 
extreme events present to firefighters (e.g. 
firefighting, vehicle extrication, working at 
height), there are also a number of specific 
dangers (e.g. chemical, nuclear, radiological 
and biological hazards, major building 
collapse, wide-area flooding and civil 
disturbance). We establish effective 
command and control arrangements to 
ensure our firefighters can operate as safely 
as practicable in such complex and 
hazardous environments.  
 
Firefighters train extensively in complicated 
procedures to deal effectively with this type of 
incident, even though we do not expect them 
to happen regularly. 

Figure 27: 
Firefighters in 
chemical 
protection 
suits 

Page 35



 

Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018½Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

32 

Existing management strategy 

 
Figure 29: Firefighters undressing from 
chemical protection clothing at exercise 

Prevention 
Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service and the 
County Council Emergency Planning Team 
advises communities and businesses how to 
reduce any potential risks and create 
comprehensive local community plans to help 
prevent and recover from such events. 
 
In partnership with the Environment Agency, 
we also offer advice to those who are at risk 
from flooding. We are part of local Safety 
Advisory Groups, whose role is to improve 
the safety at all public events in the county. 

Protection  
We have comprehensive business continuity 
plans that are designed to prevent extreme 
events from having an adverse effect on our 
essential services. As a consequence, we 
are confident that we will be able to provide a 
level of emergency response even if affected 
by high levels of absence caused by 
pandemic flu or another similar event. 

Response and intervention 
We work in partnership with all other 
agencies involved with extreme events to 
maintain effective working across Fire and 
Rescue Services and other emergency 
services. Fire officers regularly train with 
other emergency services and agencies 
within a nationally agreed set of command 

and control procedures to ensure a co-
ordinated response to any large-scale 
incident. We also use locally-agreed 
infrastructure and information systems. We 
have officers who are specially trained to 
work alongside the police (Inter-agency 
Liaison Officers) and our senior managers 
regularly take part in strategic exercises with 
colleagues from the police, ambulance 
service, hospitals, Environment Agency and 
the Health Protection Agency. 
 
Furthermore, the Thames Valley Fire Control 
Service programme is aimed at improving our 
resilience across both Oxfordshire and Royal 
Berkshire when dealing with such large or 
‘spate’ incidents. 
 
We also respond to incidents that involve 
hazardous materials, which could seriously 
contaminate the environment. We have 
highly trained and suitably equipped, 
Hazardous Material and Environmental 
Protection Advisors, who can respond to 
incidents day or night, as well as providing 
additional command and control at other 
types of incidents.  
 
As part of the country’s national resilience 
resources, we maintain a Detection 
Identification and Monitoring Team (for 
hazardous materials), an Incident Response 
Unit (mass decontamination for the public) 
and a High Volume Pump (for flooding 
incidents and the movement of large 
quantities of water).  
 

 
Figure 30: Flooding in Abingdon during 2007 
 

Page 36



 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service½Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

33 

 

Risk from extreme 
events 

Future options 
To continue to improve our services we 
will: 
 
· Review the way we respond to extreme 

events in light of any changing 
environmental factors. 

 
· Develop and improve our business 

continuity plans, learning from the 
experience of other services and 
partners. Consider expanding our intra- 
and inter-operability assets (those we use 
with other Fire and Rescue Services, as 
well as other services such as police and 
health). 

 
· Explore opportunities to share specialist 

functions, assets and equipment with 
partners and neighbouring fire and 
rescue services in order to maintain and 
improve our effectiveness. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
To continue to develop our partnerships 
we will: 
 
· Continue to work in close partnership with 

businesses in high risk industries to 
reduce the dangers associated with 
handling chemicals and other hazardous 
materials. 

 
· Build our partnership with The 

Environment Agency and Department for 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs to 
reduce the environmental impacts of 
incidents 

 
· Develop the way we work with other 

agencies and other fire & rescue services 
(through the Thames Valley Local 
Resilience Forum and Fire & Rescue 
Service Strategic Resilience Board for 
instance) to ensure intra- and inter-
operability at large-scale incidents. 

 

 
 

Figure 31: Rescue exercise from lake at Blenheim Palace 

Page 37



 

Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018½Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

34 

Section 3 – Fit for purpose  

Operational challenges 
As well as the many external risks and 
challenges that we face, we also need to 
ensure that we manage the risks and 
challenges that we face as a public sector 
organisation including: 
 

· Maintaining the Retained Duty 
System 

· Delivering our services in a period of 
public sector funding cuts 

· Making the most of our resources 
such as  people, buildings, vehicles 
and equipment – see next section: 
Organisational Development 

 

Maintaining the Retained Duty 
System 
Of just over 600 firefighters in Oxfordshire, 
some 360 are on-call, working the Retained 
Duty System (RDS). This means that they 
may have another job, run a business or 
work at home but are available to respond to 
incidents and undertake regular weekly 
training.  All 24 of our fire stations have at 
least one fire engine that is staffed by on-call 
(retained) firefighters. 
 
Our two key challenges are: 
 

· Attracting and retaining sufficient RDS 
firefighters, especially during an 
economic downturn when businesses 
may reconsider releasing their 
employees to provide on-call 
firefighting duties 

· Ensuring RDS firefighters have 
appropriate training and development. 
This becomes increasingly 
challenging as their role becomes 
more diverse and they must learn 
new techniques and new 
technologies. 

 

Funding 
We are very proud to be one of the highest 
performing services in the UK, with one of the 
lowest cost levels. However, we have had to 

make a number of savings and continue to 
deliver efficiencies and improvements to 
maintain our cost-effectiveness.  
 
We are not anticipating the public sector 
funding position to improve significantly 
during the five-year life of this plan and 
therefore expect to be constantly reviewing 
our service to get the most out of the 
resources that we have.  
 
Around 75% (£18m) of our budget is spent 
on employees, and over 90% of that figure 
(£16.2m) is firefighter pay. This highlights 
how valuable our firefighters are and how we 
must ensure that we maximise their 
productivity. As a consequence, we are 
constantly review working patterns and rotas, 
as well as crewing levels and training and 
development programmes.  
 
 

 
Figure 32: Firefighter training at Fire Service 
College 

Page 38



 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service½Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

35 

 

Organisational 
development 
This is about developing the type of 
organisation we need to be to ensure we 
remain fit for purpose and continue to make 
Oxfordshire safer.  

People 
Training and development 
As we face a broader range of risks 
associated with new buildings, technology 
and extreme risks, we expect more from our 
firefighters. Regular and realistic operational 
training on techniques, procedures and 
equipment is vital to maintain firefighter 
effectiveness and to reduce the risks to the 
public and themselves. For more senior 
operational managers, the skills needed to 
command large complex incidents need to be 
developed and regularly practiced. 
 
We have a sophisticated approach to training 
and development, which follows the 
principles of the nationally-recognised 
Integrated Personal Development System 
and uses a three-phase model:  
 
· Phase One: acquisition – acquiring the 

skills and/or knowledge 
· Phase Two: application – applying the 

skills/knowledge 
· Phase Three: maintenance – maintaining 

the skills/knowledge through regular 
refresh 

 

 
Figure 33: Firefighter training at Fire Service 
College 
 
 
 

 
Culture 
As an organisation we have a strong team 
spirit and a ‘can do’ culture of getting things 
done. We reinforce this through the county 
council staff awards, the Fire and Rescue 
Annual Awards Evening, Staff Briefings and 
weekly internal communications. The nature 
of our work means that stations and teams 
often form close knit social groups, which go 
beyond the workplace. 
 

 
Figure 34: Firefighters practice drills at 
Rewley Road Fire Station 
 
Recruitment and retention 
The role of a firefighter is still highly valued 
and when we recruit to full-time positions we 
receive applications from across the country. 
However, we do face a challenge ensuring 
that in some areas we have the appropriate 
number of RDS firefighters to respond 
around the clock. 

Assets  
We own all 24 of our fire stations, plus 34 fire 
engines and various specialist vehicles. 
These assets and our other equipment are 
worth £27 million at current market values (1st 
April 2011). It is crucial, therefore, that we get 
the best value from these assets by buying 
them for the best possible prices, by 
maintaining them well and by maximising 
their usage. 
 

 
 
To maximise usage and value, we need to 
ensure that we have the right number and 
type of assets in the right places at the right 

We currently have the best value fire 
engines in the South East Region. 

 

Page 39



 

Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018½Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

36 

times. To achieve this we analyse past data 
and forecast the trends of different types of 
incidents, including where and when they 
occur. We also analyse current and predicted 
response times to identify where best to 
locate our assets. 

Structure  
We are constantly reviewing our structures to 
ensure that we make best use of available 
resources. Decisions are made at the most 
appropriate level. We aim to maximise 
responsiveness, efficiency and effectiveness, 
while balancing local, ‘on the job’ knowledge 
with experience and strategic awareness.  
 

At operational incidents we follow national 
guidance for command structures, which 
ensure that we have suitable control of the 
incident and can operate with other Fire and 
Rescue Services at major incidents. This 
approach also reduces the risks to firefighters 
and the public. 
 
 

Figure 35: Extrication equipment on Specialist Rescue Unit 

Page 40



 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service½Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

37 Oxfordshir Fi nd R Se ic ½Oxfordshir Co it Risk M t Pl  2013 201837

 

 

Summary of future challenges 

In order to maintain the 
most effective response to 
emergencies we must ask 
ourselves a number of 
questions: 
 
Why? – Why do we provide the 
services that we do? Fire and 
Rescue Services have a number of 
statutory duties detailed by the Fire 
and Rescue Act, the Regulatory 
Reform Fire Safety Order and the 
Civil Contingencies Act. We also 
choose to get involved with the 
delivery of services that we believe 
are important in improving 
community safety. We need to 
regularly review that the services 
we provide are the most 
appropriate and cost-effective. 

How? - How will we respond to 
incidents? How will we maintain an 
appropriate level of service during 
the most extreme circumstances or 
when we are dealing with large 
incidents - both locally or 
nationally? Can this be done more 
effectively in collaboration? 

What? -  What equipment, vehicles 
and skills should we be using in the 
future to ensure we provide an 
excellent and cost-effective 
emergency response – while, at the 
same time, reducing the risk to 
firefighters wherever practicable? 

When? - We currently aim to 
provide a uniform level of available 
emergency resources, regardless 
of the changing levels of risk 
throughout the day or on different 
days of the week, month or year. 
With an improved understanding of 
the changing nature of risks, we 
need to consider how we can best 
meet them with a more flexible 
approach. 

Where? - Where should fire 
engines and specialist vehicles 
best be located to ensure we can 
provide the appropriate response to 
the full range of emergencies, 
whilst also providing an effective 
prevention service to the 
community?  

Who? - Who is best-placed to 
respond to the local risks? We 
currently have full-time staff who 
work at a number of different 
stations in predominantly urban 
areas and on-call staff in more rural 
communities. Both provide 
emergency response, education 
and prevention activities. As risks in 
the county change, will we need to 
adapt our staffing arrangements to 
suit? 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



 

Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018½Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

38 

Section 4 - Operational assurance 
The challenges we face when we send 
firefighters to emergency incidents is 
recognised by the Health and Safety 
Executive (HSE) who said: 
 
“they (the Fire Service) have to prepare 
individual employees to be able to make 
decisions in dangerous, fast-moving, 
emotionally charged and pressurised 
situations, even when there may sometimes 
be incomplete or inaccurate information 
about the incident;” 
 
The HSE also stated that: 
 
“many incidents firefighters face can develop 
at speed, some can develop in unexpected 
ways – and firefighters may, from time to 
time, be confronted with situations outside 
their experience;”  
 
“they may not be able to control or mitigate 
some aspects of the working environment.” 
 
We agree with these statements but this 
does not mean that we adopt a ‘cavalier 
approach’ in emergency situations. We 
develop safe systems of work, continually 
train and assess our staff, and provide the 
best equipment and a high standard of 
personal protective equipment. 
 
This approach means that operational 
assurance is considered in advance but has 
a big impact on our performance on the 
incident ground. 
 
Our policies and procedures on training 
provide us with firefighters who are capable 
of completing their tasks competently and 
safely. The review of when, how, where and 
who train our staff will have a direct impact 
on our performance at an emergency 
situation.  
 
Once we are at an emergency situation we 
have a responsibility to the public, our 
employees, other emergency responders and 

anyone who might be affected by our 
activities. We have developed standard 
approaches to managing incidents that have 
a track record of success in reducing risk. As 
each incident is unique, there is a great 
potential for learning. This might relate to the 
resource we send, our generic procedures for 
dealing with that incident type, the decision 
making of the officer in charge and the fire 
fighting actions of our crews. 
 
To capture this learning and make sure we 
move forward, we actively monitor our 
performance at emergency incidents and 
training events.  We review either specific 
incident types against the suggested actions 
and safe systems of work in our procedures, 
or the performance and decision making of 
the officer in charge against the expected 
standards. All staff that attend an emergency 
incident have the opportunity to feedback on 
their individual experiences and make 
suggestions for improved ways of working. 
 
All of the information from our operational 
monitoring and staff feedback are reviewed 
and presented to our Emergency Response 
Manager, Health and Safety Manager and 
our Training Manager and action plans are 
created to plan any changes that are 
required.   
 

 

Dealing with the most serious 
emergencies is a dangerous 

business and firefighters may be 
exposed to high levels of risks. In 
the UK, 15 firefighters have died 
while on duty since 2004. We are 

committed to keeping our 
workforce as safe as possible 

while maintaining a cost-effective 
emergency response service. 

 

Page 42



 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service½Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

39 

Section 5 - How can you help? 

Let us know what you 
think  
We are keen to hear what you think of this 
plan, what you like and what you don’t and 
any ideas you have to make Oxfordshire 
safer. 
 
Visit our Oxfordshire Community Risk 
Management Plan page online.  
 
Email us at…irmpteam@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 
Write to us at… 
 
Oxfordshire Community Risk Management 
Plan Consultation 
Fire and Rescue Service Headquarters 
Sterling Close 
Kidlington 
Oxfordshire 
OX4 2NT 
 

Become a firefighter!  

What do firefighters do? 
 
Our community relies on the skill and 
dedication of the men and women of our Fire 
and Rescue Service who work at your local 
fire station.  
 

 
Figure 36: Charity car wash event involving 
firefighters and fire cadets 

 
Figure 37: Routine maintenance of hydraulic 
rescue equipment 
 
At any time of the day or night firefighters 
may be called upon to deal with a range of 
emergencies, including fires in houses or 
factories, flooding from rivers and river 
rescues, vehicle crashes on the motorway or 
country lanes, rescues of animals in great 
distress, chemical spillages at factories or on 
the roads, and other equally demanding and 
exacting incidents. 

What do firefighters get out of 
it? 
There are many benefits 
including: 

· the opportunity to help your community in 
a direct practical way  

· helping to prevent fires as part of our 
community safety programme  

· being a highly-trained breathing 
apparatus wearer, emergency driver and 
qualified first aid worker  

· reaping the rewards of working in a team  
· being trained to a high standard and 

given the opportunity to lead teams in 
challenging situations  

· being paid well for your service.  

Retained Duty System (RDS) 
Firefighters 
These are on-call firefighters who carry a 
pager and let the fire station know when 
they're available so they can respond 
immediately to emergency calls at any time. 
Many have an arrangement with their 
employer, so they can be on-call for the Fire 
and Rescue Service, while at the same time 

Page 43



 

Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018½Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

40 

remaining a valued employee. Others choose 
to devote only evenings and weekends to 
being on-call. They do the same job as whole 
time firefighters and receive regular training. 
RDS firefighters have to live or work within 
about five minutes of their local fire station in 
order to respond to call outs quickly. They 
are called out on average two or three times 
a week but the commitment varies around 
the county and between different fire stations. 
RDS Firefighters are an essential part of the 
Fire and Rescue Service. They serve both 
our urban and, even more so, our rural 
communities, responding to pagers when an 
emergency call is received.  

Who can be a firefighter 
To become a firefighter you 
must: 

· have a real wish to support the local 
community  

· have an enthusiasm and willingness to 
work in a team environment  

· have a reasonable level of physical 
fitness  

· be able to pass written entry tests  
· be over 17 years and 10 months.  
 
We welcome applications from all members 
of the community regardless of their age, 
gender identity, ethnic background, religion, 
life skills, physical ability or sexual 
orientation. We are particularly looking for 
more women and people from minority ethnic 
communities, as these groups are currently 
under represented. 

Would you like to know more? 
If you are interested in becoming a 
Firefighter, you can: 
 
· Contact your nearest station and speak to 

the Station Manager to discuss your 
availability and determine your suitability. 

 
· Fill in an online suitability questionnaire 

now at: 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/firecareers 

 
· When you are ready call our firefighter 

recruitment hotline: 0800 5870 870 

 

Support us 
 
Oxfordshire County Council Fire and Rescue 
Service has a long history of raising money 
for charity.  Between 2002 and 2012 the 
Service raised over £2 million for both the 
Fire Fighters Charity and other local and 
national causes.  
 
The Fire Fighters Charity is the UK’s leading 
provider of services that enhance the quality 
of life for serving and retired fire service 
personnel and their families. They’re 
available for all members of the fire service 
community, assisting thousands of 
individuals every year by providing 
pioneering treatment and support services. 
 
Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service is at 
the very forefront of the Fire Fighters Charity, 
and consistently leads the way in terms of 
fundraising, often out-performing other larger 
brigades nationwide. 

 

Figure 38: Charity collection for Children in 
Need 
 
Over the last six years the amount we have 
raised locally has quadrupled, each year 
setting new records. In 2010-2011 
Oxfordshire was the highest per capita 
fundraiser in the UK, bringing in a brigade 

Page 44



 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service½Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

41 

total of over £122,000 for the year, £17,500 
up on the previous year. 

It costs £9m every year to meet the needs of 
firefighters, and with no government funding, 
it is completely reliant upon donations from 
the general public and fire community. 

If you would like to donate to this worthwhile 
charity then please visit the following website 
http://www.firefighterscharity.org.uk. 

You can also donate by texting FIRX99 £1 
(or other amount) to 70700 – Thank you!

Page 45



 

Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018½Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

42 

Appraisals 
Individual Objectives and 

Development Plans 

 
 
 
 

Area/Functional 
Plans 

 

Key 
 National 

Regional/ 
Partnership 

County Council 

Fire Service 

Integrated  
Risk  

Management  
Planning 

Oxfordshire 2030 
Partnership Strategy for 

Oxfordshire 

Corporate Plan  
Oxfordshire County 

Council’s Annual Plan 

National 
Framework 

The Government 
Framework that 
English Fire and 
Rescue Services 
have to operate 

within 

365 Alive 
OFRS’ Strategic Aims 

Securing a Safer 
Oxfordshire 

National Risk 
Register 

 

Thames Valley 
Community Risk 

Register 
 

Oxfordshire 
Operational  

Risk Register  
 

The Fire and 
Rescue Services 

Act 2004 
 

Civil 
Contingencies 

Act 2004 
 

The Regulatory 
Reform (Fire Safety) 

Order 2005 

Health and 
Safety at Work 
etc Act 1974 

Core  
Legislation 

 

Oxfordshire 
Community Risk 

Management Plan 
2013 to 2018 

 
Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue’s  
5 year community risk analysis 

(this document) 

Safer By Design 
Annual 

Business Plan 
 

Community Protection 
Annual Action Plan 

plus Resource 
Planning 

Community 
Risk 

Management 
Annual 
Report  

 
Risk, 

Performance 
and 

Governance 

Annex 1 - The ‘Golden Thread’ 
 
 

Page 46



 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service½Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

43 

Annex 2 - The ‘safe person’ concept 
In normal health and safety management, the intent is to make the workplace safe, because this 
protects everyone – employees and the public. However, an operational incident is an inherently 
dangerous workplace with the potential for unpredictable risks to develop, which may be 
impossible to make completely safe. As a consequence, the Fire and Rescue Service must direct 
its efforts to keeping its firefighters as safe as is reasonably practicable, taking into account both 
the risks to the public and operational objectives of each emergency incident. This approach is 
known as the Safe Person Concept. There are two aspects to this concept - organisational 
responsibility and personal responsibility. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Organisational Responsibility 
The organisation needs to provide the support necessary to enable its personnel to remain safe in 
a hostile environment. 
 
This will include: 

Selection/advancement 
Because of the inherent dangers involved in dealing with emergency incidents, the fire & rescue 
service must endeavour to recruit and advance the people with the right skills and attributes to do 
the job. We will, therefore, continue to develop our recruitment and advancement processes - 
taking into account any regional or national guidance, where appropriate. 

Figure 39: The Safe Person Concept 

Page 47



 

Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018½Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

44 

Risk information 
Firefighters attend a variety of incidents – some of which are extremely complicated in nature and 
their risks. Therefore, we put in place measures to help manage and mitigate those risks, where it 
is reasonably practicable to do so, such as site specific risk information for high risk premises, 
which are made available to responding fire crews at the incident ground. 

Personal protective equipment 
Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) is regarded as the last resort to protect against risks to the 
health & safety of our personnel. We therefore ensure that we provide high quality PPE that is 
legally compliant, professionally managed and fit for purpose.  

Equipment 
The operational equipment carried on a fire appliance is varied and allows firefighters to tackle the 
wide range of incidents. We will continue to provide legally compliant, professionally managed and 
fit for purpose equipment designed to help reduce the risks to our firefighters. 

Procedures 
Because of the varied nature of the incidents that firefighters attend, we are committed to provide 
the appropriate tools to do the job safely and effectively. Operational procedures are just one of 
these tools and we have in place processes to produce, maintain, review and update these 
procedures, so that they are current and, where necessary, reflect regional or national guidance 
and best practice. 

Command competence 
Command and control is vital at an operational incident in order to bring it to a successful 
conclusion and maintain safe systems of work. We have in place operational commanders that are 
both highly competent at their relevant level within the Incident Command system and who 
maintain this competence as part of their development. 

Instruction & training 
Our overarching priority is to create safe systems of work and safe personnel through effective 
training and development. All personnel, uniformed and non-uniformed, in temporary or 
substantive roles, irrespective of their duty system, will undertake training and assessment 
appropriate to their role and will be required to demonstrate competency (measured against their 
role map and where appropriate National Occupational Standards). 
 
We will endeavour, where possible, to ensure that learning and development is easily accessible 
and flexible, to meet the needs of personnel. We will achieve this by utilising different learning 
media, using a modular approach and working with other partners where appropriate. 

Supervision 
Because of the nature of the work that we undertake on a daily basis, we have put in place 
systems to support the appropriate supervision of operational staff. This is supplemented by 
utilising both active & reactive monitoring, in order to assess and maintain standards. 
 

Page 48



 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service½Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

45 

 

Personal Responsibility 
The individual must have the ability to make professional judgements about the appropriate use of 
available resources, in order to control the risks inherent in the unique circumstances of any 
emergency situation. 
 
Every operational firefighter is therefore expected to exhibit the 6 attributes presented in Figure 27. 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Figure 40: Personal Responsibility 

Page 49



 

Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018½Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

46 

Annex 3 – Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 
2005  
The following summary is from our Fire Protection Policy Statements on the 
Discharge of Duties (references in brackets). These are our policy and procedure 
documents for enforcing the requirements of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) 
Order 2005. 
 
The principal aim of the Oxfordshire County Council Fire and Rescue Authority (“the Authority”) is 
to make Oxfordshire a safer place by reducing as far as possible the risks and social and 
economic costs of fires and other dangers, without imposing unnecessary burden. Securing 
compliance with legal regulatory requirements is an important part of achieving this aim. 
 
Our Enforcement Policy Statement is based on the principles of Better Regulation contained in the 
Enforcement Concordat and Regulators Compliance Code and sets out the approach the 
Authority will take in enforcing the legislation. 
 
Our targeted approach means ensuring that regulatory effort is directed primarily towards those 
people and premises whose activities and/or set-up give rise to higher levels of risk to 
public/employee (relevant persons) safety, where the hazards and risks are less well controlled, or 
against deliberate offences. The Authority aims to make sure, through targeting, that the direction 
of regulatory effort takes into account the level of risk. Action will be primarily focused on those 
directly responsible for the risk and who are best placed to control it. The Authority has systems for 
prioritising regulatory effort. These include a risk-based re-inspection programme that adheres 
to national best practice and makes use of the outcomes of national fire data and societal life risk, 
as well as localised plans to identify high risk premises. Risk assessment, utilising methodology 
and data provided by Communities and Local Government, together with local data, intelligence 
and knowledge, underpins the Authority’s approach to regulatory activity. The Authority will seek to 
identify relevant and good quality data to continually improve its risk based audit and 
inspection programme. 
 
In addition, the Authority operates a risk-based system of audit and inspection of premises. 
This system utilises data and guidance from Communities and Local Government together with 
local intelligence and knowledge and incorporates local risk priorities identified from trends in 
location, types of fire and assessment of vulnerability of groups in local areas within Oxfordshire. 
 
Audits and inspection will be undertaken by officers on the basis of our risk-based system, under 
which priority will be given to individual premises and generic premises types or uses that have 
been assessed as being of relatively higher risk. Currently, the standard re-inspection frequencies 
rate from six-monthly (Very High Risk) to five-yearly (Low Risk) or even sampling (Very low Risk), 
dependent on each risk assessment. However, greater audit and inspection effort can be allocated 
to premises where a compliance breach would pose a serious risk to the safety of relevant 
persons and/or the Authority has reason to believe that there is a high likelihood of non-
compliance with the law. 
 
The Authority’s overall enforcement programme also takes account the need to sample small 
numbers of premises in relatively lower risk categories in order to continually test the methodology 
used.  
 
Finally, the Authority will respond to allegations of fire risk in any premises for which they are the 
enforcing authority regardless of the relative risk level of the premises. 
 

Page 50



 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service½Oxfordshire Community Risk Management Plan 2013-2018 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk 

47 

 

Produced by Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service’s IRMP Team – Autumn 2012 
Page 51



Page 52

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Division(s): N/A 
 

 
 

CABINET MEMBER FOR SAFER & STRONGER COMMUNITIES  
DELEGATED DECISIONS 

 
8 OCTOBER 2012  

 
INTEGRATED RISK MANAGEMENT PLAN (IRMP) OXFORDSHIRE 
FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY - DRAFT ACTION PLAN 2013-14 

AND UPDATE ON NATIONAL FRAMEWORK 
 

Report by the Chief Fire Officer 
  

Introduction 
 
1. This report proposes a number of projects to be included within the Fire 

Authority’s Integrated Risk Management Action Plan (IRMP) for the fiscal year 
2013-14.  The proposals summarise areas where the Service’s Senior 
Leadership Team believe service improvements may be achieved. To meet 
the requirements of the IRMP process, each proposal is supported by 
evidence validating both their inclusion and their contribution to improved 
community engagement and community/firefighter safety.  Similarly, each 
proposal recognises the prevailing economic constraints. 

 
2. These proposals, if approved by the Cabinet Member for Safer & Stronger 

Communities, will be adopted in the final version of the IRMP Action Plan 
2013-14 subject to further consultation & scrutiny.  Each project will be subject 
to close monitoring, reviewed every quarter and reported to the Cabinet 
Member responsible for Safer & Stronger Communities. 

 
3. The Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 received Royal Assent on 22 July 

2004.  Part 3, Chapter 21 of this legislation requires the Secretary of State to 
prepare a Fire and Rescue National Framework to which Fire Authorities must 
have regard when discharging their functions. 

 
4. The Secretary of State published the latest Fire and Rescue National 

Framework in July 2012.  The purpose of the Framework is to provide 
strategic direction from central government whilst ensuring that authorities 
continue to make local decisions.  The Framework set out the Government's 
objectives for the Fire and Rescue Service and what Fire and Rescue 
Authorities should do to achieve these objectives.  The 2012 National 
Framework has changed the focus of national priorities away from areas such 
as Regional Management Boards, Equality and Diversity, Workforce 
Development and Asset management and moved, instead, towards the 
demonstration and delivery of FRS strategies for prevention, protection and 
response, which includes the publication of key performance data, such as 

Agenda Item 5

Page 53



response standards – as part of the wider public sector accountability and 
transparency agenda. There is also a strong focus on maintaining and 
developing national resilience assets which can be called upon for major 
incidents or terrorist attacks anywhere in the country – as well as improving 
the working relationships with neighbouring Fire and Rescue Services 
(Intraoperability) and other emergency services (Interoperabitily).  Having said 
this, the latest version of the Framework document also continues to make 
clear that the use of Integrated Risk Management Planning (IRMP) will still be 
the key tool to determine the need for and allocation of local fire prevention, 
protection and response resources - to allow local decisions to be made by 
practitioners and elected members on the basis of locally assessed risks and 
circumstances. 

 
5. The 2012 Fire and Rescue National Framework requires each Fire and 

Rescue Authority to produce a publicly available IRMP covering at least a 
three-year time span which: 

 
• Is regularly reviewed and revised and reflects up-to-date risk information 

and evaluation of service delivery outcomes 
• Has regard to the risk analyses completed by Local and Regional 

Resilience Forums including those reported in external Community Risk 
Registers (CRRs) and internal risk registers, to ensure that civil and 
terrorist contingencies are captured in their IRMP 

• Reflects effective consultation during its development and at all review 
stages with representatives of all sections of the community and 
stakeholders 

• Demonstrates how prevention, protection and response activities will be 
best used to mitigate the impact of risk on communities in a cost 
effective way 

• Provides details of how Fire and Rescue Authorities deliver their 
objectives and meet the needs of communities through working with 
partners 

• Has undergone an effective equality impact assessment process. 
 
6. Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Authority is in the process of publishing its latest 

strategic IRMP in April 2013 providing the strategic direction for the next five 
years.  This document will be subject to annual review and updated and 
amended as required.  This draft annual action plan 2013-14 will be the first 
one to be linked to the new strategic IRMP. 

 
7. The projects that have been proposed for the action plan 2013-14 will be 

subject to consultation for 12 weeks starting on the 12th November 2012.  
During this period, Oxfordshire Fire & Rescue Authority will consult with 
neighbouring Fire and Rescue Services, partner organisations such as the 
Highways Agency and the Environment Agency, the Fire Brigades Union, 
Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue staff (uniformed and non-uniformed) and 
members of the public. 

 
8. The Senior Management team from Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service will 

respond to the comments made during the consultation period and the 

Page 54



responses will be made available to Cabinet in the final report in 2013 and 
published on the internet for public access. 

 
9. The following items summarise the projects for inclusion in the IRMP Action 

Plan for the fiscal year 2013-14: 
 

• Project 1: Implement the Service’s Road Safety strategy as an integral 
part of its prevention and protection activities 

 
Responsible Manager: Area Manager – Safety 
 
Objective: Now that the County Council’s Road Safety Team have moved into 
the Fire and Rescue Service, there is a need to develop and integrate their 
education programmes, initiatives and resources within the wider established 
home and commercial safety work activities of the Service. 
Outcome: To provide an improved and targeted range of safety services for 
Oxfordshire residents, businesses and commuters, which continues to drive 
down accidents and injuries in the home, at work and on the roads. 

 
• Project 2: Implement opportunities for technological advancements - 

following a review of fleet, equipment and working practices - to further 
support and enhance public and firefighter safety 

 
Responsible Manager: Area Manager - Service Support 
 
Objective: Following recent firefighter fatalities in both warehouse and high 
rise building fires – coupled with the continuing need to drive down the number 
and severity of accidents and injuries across the county’s homes, at work and 
on our roads, the research and implementation of new equipment and 
approaches is seen as a key driver to help continually improving our service 
provision. 
Outcome: To continue to reduce the number and severity of injuries to both 
the public and firefighters, as well as reduce the damage to property from fires 
and other emergencies. 

 
•  Project 3: Review and revise the Service’s Learning and Development 

strategy to further support and enhance public and firefighter safety 
 

Responsible Manager: Area Manager - Service Support 
 
Objective: As the scope of the Service’s response to emergencies expands to 
incorporate more specialist rescue activities as well as becoming more 
complex as a result of the latest developments in both building and vehicle 
design / construction, the need to keep firefighters appropriately equipped and 
trained is paramount. 
Outcome: To continue to provide ‘fit-for-purpose’ training for our firefighters, 
based on the emergency incidents they are expected to respond to. 

 

Page 55



• Project 4: Deliver the Thames Valley Fire Control Service (TVFCS) 
programme 

 
Responsible Manager: Deputy Chief Fire Officer 
 
Objective: With both Fire & Rescue Authorities’ (Oxfordshire and Royal 
Berkshire) decisions to formally collaborate on the creation of a combined 
Control Service being agreed, the programme to deliver it by April 2014 needs 
to be undertaken 
Outcome: To provide the new Service in line with the programme delivery 
plan and expectations, in partnership with Royal Berkshire FRA. 

 
•  Project 5: Implement further collaborative opportunities with other 

Thames Valley Local Resilience Forum (TVLRF) Category 1 & 2 
responders and align working practices to improve our provision of 
multi-agency prevention, protection and response services 

 
Responsible Manager: Area Manager - Operations and Resilience 
 
Objective: Developing on from the success of the collaborative working and 
pre-planning in the run-up to and during the 2012 Olympics and Paralymplics, 
capitalise on the networks, training and agreed joint-working activities to 
further improve our service provision, particularly in relation to major incidents. 
Outcome: To develop and make use of a framework for on-going service 
improvements in the context of the working with neighbouring Fire & Rescue 
Services as well as other key local partners, as defined by the Civil 
Contingencies Act (2004). 

 
• Project 6: Review and revise the Service’s strategy for the effective 

management of operational incidents in order to further support and 
enhance public and firefighter safety 

 
Responsible Manager: Area Manager - Operations and Resilience 
 
Objective: Following on from the Service’s 2012/13 IRMP project relating to 
incident command and worse case planning assumptions, there is a need to 
incorporate the research and findings into the Service’s new ways of working, 
taking into account the outcomes of this action plan’s Projects 2,3,4 & 5. 
Outcome: The operational and safety aspects of emergency response will 
continue to improve, even against the backdrop of increasing scope and 
complexity. 

 
 

Financial and Staff Implications 
 
11. Each project will fully recognise the prevailing economic constraints, delivering 

efficiencies or allowing existing/additional services to be delivered more 
effectively. 
 

  

Page 56



RECOMMENDATION 
 
12. The Cabinet Member is RECOMMENDED to: approve the proposed projects 

to be included for further consultation & scrutiny in the draft IRMP Action Plan 
2013-14.  

 
 
Dave Etheridge 
Chief Fire Officer 
 
 
Background papers:  
 
Oxfordshire Fire Authority Integrated Risk Management Plan 2013-18 
The Fire and Rescue Service National Framework 2012. 
 
Contact Officer: Nathan Travis Tel: (01865) 855206 
  
 
October 2012 
 
 
 

Page 57



Page 58

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Draft OFRS Strategic Integrated Risk Management Plan 2013/23 for Public Consultation
	CMDSSC_OCT0812R02

	5 Integrated Risk Management Plan - Draft Action Plan 2013/14 and Update on National Framework

